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STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 2006, the Stark County Grand Jury returned an indictment charging Adam David Jones
and Shawn Michael Skropits each with one count each of carrying concealed weapons' and
unlawful possession of a dangerous ordnance.” The indictment charged both Jones and Skropits
as either the principal offender or as accomplices who aided and abetted each other. The men
were charged with having four handguns and a sawed-off shotgun in their Ford Ranger, along
with ammunition for the guns, when they were stopped after a traffic accident. Jones was the
driver of the vehicle and Skropits was his passenger. Both men pleaded not guilty to these
charges, and the case proceeded in the Stark County Court of Common Pleas.

Before trial, Skropits and Jones filed separate motions to suppress the evidence against
them, arguing that the officer stopped them outside of his jurisdiction, and thus the stop was
illegal. At the conclusion of the evidentiary portion of the hearing, the trial court determined
what the parties agreed to with regard to the facts in this case. The parties agreed that it was dark
at the time of the stop, th\at the police officer who made the stop was on his way back mto his
jurisdiction at the time he saw the vehicle Jones and Skropits were in, and that their vehicle had
damage to the grill and was operating without its headlights on.” The trial court the asked

defense counsel whether the officer had the legal right to stop such a vehicle under these

'R.C. 2923.12(A)(2), a felony of the fourth degree.

R.C. 2923.17(A), a felony of the fifth degree.

ST.(S) 58-61. The record on appeal for this case consists of two volumes of transcripts —
one for the suppression hearing, and one for the sentencing hearing. Skropits did not include a
transcript of the no contest plea hearing. In the appeal of his co-defendant, Adam David Jones,
only the transcript of the no contest plea hearing was transmitted as part of the record in his
appeal. References to the transcript of the suppression hearing in this brief will be *“T.(S).”
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conditions.

THE COURT: . . . Under your view of this case, if he’s outside of
his jurisdiction, he’s going back towards his jurisdiction, he sees
the vehicle after dark, when, when the vehicle should have
headlights on, doesn’t have headlights on, it has a smashed grill, he
can’t stop it, he just has to let it go?

MR. REISCH [JONES” ATTORNEY]: No, he should stop it, but
then this Court should suppress it because he shouldn’t be outside
his jurisdiction. Yes.

THE COURT: Mr. Urban, at this point in time would you say this
case stands for the proposition that the officer should let the
vehicle go? '

I'm trying to —
MR. URBAN [SKROPITS’ ATTORNEY]: I don’t, [ don’t think it
should stand for that proposition and I agree with what Mr. Reisch
had indicated.

T.(S) 62.

The trial court attempted to clarify this apparently contradictory position taken by both

Jones and SKROPITS, i.e., that the officer had the legal authority to stop their vehicle, but also

did not have this authority since he was outside of his jurisdiction at the time he saw their vehicle

and stopped it.

THE COURT: So you all are saying since he went further in doing
something about this investigation than he should have, then if he
sees something on his way back that he could otherwise stop
someone for, he can’t stop them?

MR. REISCH [for JONES]: No, I think, as I said before, he should
be able to stop the vehicle for, certainly for public safety, but then
it’s up to the Court to review whether that evidence should be
suppressed, because he, there was no crime that took him outside.



... Right. He should, taken as a snapshot in that moment of time,
yes, he should have stopped the vehicle.

T(S) 64-65.
The trial court further questioned counsel, setting forth the facts that seemed to be
undisputed at the hearing, focusing on the issue of whether the officer had authority to go outside
of his jurisdiction as part of his investigation into a hit-skip accident within his jurisdiction.

THE COURT: . . . But what we have here, for the sake of this
argument, discussion, is that we have a police officer who was
told about an incident that occurred and some type of incident
between two vehicles that occurred within his jurisdiction, he
went there, . . . , he cleaned the place up. He took the remedial
action that he was supposed to take, kicked things off the road, get
them off the side, looked around, didn’t see anything.

Went back to the city hall, was getting ready to go into the city hall
to perform his other duties, which he enumerated for us, doesn’t
even get out, fully into his car — out of his car into the city hall, was
radioed, told to go outside his jurisdiction because one of the
vehicles may have been seen.

So he goes out there, nothing there, and then someone comes
along, says - well, gives him some information the vehicle he
wants may be somewhere else, so he goes down there, to see if the
vehicle is there. He goes away from his jurisdiction, doesn’t,
doesn’t see anything.

He goes back to his jurisdiction, and sees a vehicle, a smashed-in
grill, however you want to describe it, not having any headlights,
and are we supposed to draw from the radical profiling, the facts
that gave rise to, to the Terry case,’ ah, that this is the same thing?

*Counsel for Skropits seemed to diverge from this position, arguing that the officer did
not have authority to be outside of his jurisdiction, and thus did not have the legal authority to
make the stop. Counsel specifically made the analogy to the plain view situation, and wether an
officer had a legal right to be where he was when he observed contraband or evidence m plain
view. T.(S) 65.

STerry v. Ohio (1968), 392 U.S. 1.



Okay. So you're, you’re telling me that if, if a police officer gets
what is arguably a valid call to go into a different jurisdiction to
investigate, so see if there is something in that jurisdiction that may
impact upon what happened in his jurisdiction, that he has to tum
back around, if he doesn’t sce it, he has to turn back around and,
ah, if he sees something then, it’s okay?

But if he says, Hey, I’m just going to drive around the block, just
going to go down to wherever, ah, other businesses are, where this

place, where this car may have gone and stopped, whatever, that he
can’t do that, he has to just stop and go back? And if, if he -

If he stops and goes back and then if he sees the vehicle, then he
can stop it? '

But if he goes out and, as Mr. Burnworth and as mister, as the
sergeant said, he does a sweep and then is going back to this
jurisdiction, he can’t stop this car?

T.(S) 66-69 (footnote added).

Counsel for Skropits argued that the officer did not have reasonable articulable facts that
justified continuing the investigation outside of the East Canton jurisdiction, characterizing the
officers search for one of the vehicles involved in the hit-skip accident as “a wild goose chase.™

The trial court rejected this characterization of the officer’s investigation and overruled
the suppression motions. In so doing, the court found that the officer reasonably pursued his
investigation into the hit-skip accident into nearby areas that were just outside of his junisdiction,

and then reasonably stopped the suspected vehicle when he was on his way back to his

jurisdiction.

ST.(S) 69-70.



What I’m looking at is that was a logical thing for a police officer
to do, as part of his investigation. He had an investigation, he had
an incident that occurred within his jurisdiction. He went there, ah,
obviously because of the road debris, he, there had been something
which had occurred.

Going back to city hall, was told, was dispatched to go outside of
his jurisdiction in continuation of what had happened ~ his
investigation of what had happened in his jurisdiction.

Goes out there, doesn’t see anything, gets some additional
information, takes a final step in the, in his investigation, does the
sweep, and then on his way back to the, back to his jurisdiction, he
sees a vehicle, ah, which matches what had happened, ah, in his
jurisdiction. Has a smashed in grill, it was driving after dark
without headlights and he stopped it.

Just giving you my findings of fact and my conclusion of law, is
that on the basis of that, ah, stopping that vehicle was not a

violation of the constitutional rights of either Mr. Skropits or Mr.
Jones. And I'm denying the motion to dismiss.

T.(S) 71-72.

After the suppression motions were overruled, Skropits opted to plead no contest to the
charges in the indictment. Based upon the evidence presented at the suppression hearing, the
court found both Jones and Skropits guilty of the charged offenses, and ordered a probation
investigation report. Upon the completion of this report, the court imposed a community control
sanction for a period of two years.

Jones and Skropits both appealed their convictions and sentences to the Court of Appeals
for Stark County (Fifth Appellate District), challenging solely the trial court’s suppression ruling.
The court of appeals sustained their lone assignments of error and reversed the trial court,
concluding that it had erred in not sustaining their suppression motions. In so ruling, the

appellate court held that the extraterritorial stop by the officer in this case violated the



reasonableness requirement of the Fourth Amendment, and hence invalidated the stop and
subsequent search of the motor vehicle.”

Judge Julie A. Edwards dissented in both cases. Judge Edwards reasoned that this
Court’s Weideman decision® was controlling in these cases. Pursuant to this case, Judge Edwards
would have held that the stop in this case was not unreasonable since the police officer observed
a traffic violation being committed by the vehicle driven by Jones and Skropits, i.¢., driving at
night without its headlights on, and thus the trial court did not err in overruling the suppression
motions. |

The State of Ohio appealed these two cases to this Court, which accepted for cases for
review® and ordered them consolidated."

The facts of this case are not complicated. On September 27, 2006, Officer Mitchell
Hershberger of the East Canton Police Department was dispatched to an accident scene to
investigate the collision of two motor vehicles. When he arrived at the location of the accident -
113 East Nassau Street in East Canton — neither vehicle was still at the scene. Hershberger
talked with a witness who worked at the nearby gas station, and was told that a small red Ford

Ranger had struck the rear end of a full-size van. The driver of the van got out and exchanged

State v. Jones, Stark App. No. 2007-CA-00139, 2007-Ohio-5818, 2007 WL 3171206;
State v. Skropits, Stark App. No. 2007-CA-00098, 2007-Ohio-5817, 2007 WL 3171209.

8State v. Weideman, 94 Ohio St.3d 501, 2002-Ohio-1484, 764 N.E.2d 997.

°State v. Jones, 117 Ohio St.3d 1438, 2008-Ohio-1279, 883 N.E.2d 456.(appeal allowed);
and State v. Skropits, 117 Ohio St.3d 1423, 2008-Ohio-969, 882 N.E.2d 444 (appeal allowed).

0State v. Skropits, 117 Ohio St.3d 1450, 2008-Ohio-1427, 883 N.E.2d 1075 (cases
consolidated).



words with the driver of the Ford Ranger. The driver of the van then got back into his vehicle,
made a U-turn, and left the scene. The Ford Ranger also left the scene, proceeding westbound on
Nassau Street.'!

Hershberger next examined the accident site, and noticed debris from the Ford Ranger on
the street. He specificalty found debris of the front turn signal light from the Ranger. The officer
cleared the street of this debris, which took about five minutes, and then proceeded to the town’s
village hall (as he was also the bailiff for mayor’s court that night). The village hall was about 30
yards from the accident scene. As he was exiting his cruiser, Hershberger received a dispatch
call that a red Ford Ranger with a smashed front and headlights out was hiding at the old Coyote
Restaurant, which was located on the Osnaburg Township - Canton Township boundary line.

The restaurant was about a half mile from East Canton. Hershberger knew that there was a trailer
park there."

Hershberger investigate the old restaurant area and the trailer park,” but did not find the
red Ford Ranger. Thinking that the vehicle might be going to the City of Canton, Hershberger
opted to continue west of Nassau Street (which turmed into Lincoln Street) to Trump Road, which
was about a half mile from his location. At the intersection of Trump Road and State Route 172,
there 1s a McDonald’s Restaurant and a Speedway, as well as a drive-through, a motel, and a car

wash. As Hershberger pulled into the parking lot of this area, a pick-up truck approached him.

HT.(S) 8-10, 21, 42-43.
2T(S) 11-13,22-25, 26, 38, 42.

*The Coyote was not in the East Canton jurisdiction, but was just across the line in
Canton Township. The trailer court was east of the old restaurant, in Osnaburg Township,
between the city limits of East Canton and Canton Township. T.(S) 26-27.
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Hershberger estimated that it took him about two minutes to get here from the village hall. The
men in this pick-up truck told the officer that a motor vehicle with no headlights on almost hit
them, and that this vehicle was coming westbound. Hershberger immediately proceeded
castbound on State Route 172, heading back to East Canton, when he saw the red Ford Ranger
without its headlights on and its front end smashed. The officer turmed around and followed the
Ranger, eventually tuming on his lights to make a traffic stop.'*

The traffic stop occurred about 1 1/4 miles from the East Canton accident site.
Hershberger noted that the red Ford Ranger fit the description of the vehicle that rear-ended the
van in East Canton. Hershberger pulled the vehicle over for driving without its headlights on, for
leaving the scene of an accident, and for littering the roadway with injurious material. Given the
information that the gas station clerk who had witnessed the accident had given him, Hershberger
felt that the drivers did not take the time to exchange msurance information but had simply left
the scene after exchanging words.'® Hershberger felt that while he was not in hot pursuit of a
driver who had fled this accident scene, he was nonetheless in fresh pursuit. And he pulled over
the Ranger for driving without its headlights on, he asked the dispatcher to contact the Ohio

Highway Patrol to come to the scene, but was told that they were not available.'®

“T(S) 13-16, 25.

This clerk had mimicked the driver of the van in telling Hershberger about the accident,
and the driver appeared to be animated when talking with the driver of the Ford Ranger. T.(S)
41,

T (S) 19, 20, 25, 29, 40-41, 42-45.



ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION OF LAW
THE TRAFFIC STOP OF A MOTOR VEHICLE BY A
POLICE OFFICER OUTSIDE OF HIS JURISDICTION IS
NOT UNREASONABLE UNDER THE FOURTH
AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES
CONSTITUTION WHEN THAT OFFICER HAS
PROBABLE CAUSE TO MAKE THE TRAFFIC STOP FOR
A TRAFFIC VIOLATION HE PERSONALLY OBSERVED.

The court of appeals in this case held that Hershberger’s stop of the vehicle outside of his
jurisdiction violated the Fourth Amendment rights of Jones and Skropits'” even though
Hershberger had probable cause to make the stop after personally observing a traffic violation
committed by the vehicle, i.e., driving at night without headlights on. The court also ruled that
Hershberger did not even had reasonable suspicion to take the traffic stop, given the vehicle’s
tenuous connection with the accident shortly before in East Canton. As a result, the appellate
court ruled that the evidence seized — the numerous guns found inside the Ranger — should have
been suppressed.

The appellate court’s decision, however, was not unanimous. Judge Edwards dissented

from the majority’s opiniom, correctly pointing out that this Court’s Weideman decision held that

an extraterritorial traffic stop for an offense committed and observed by a police officer outside

"Skropits, as a passenger in a vehicle stopped by police, has standing to challenge the
stop under the Fourth Amendment. See Brendlin v. California (2007), __U.S.__, 127 8.Ct.
2400, 2403, 168 L. Ed.2d 132 (holding that passenger in motor vehicle has standing to challenge
constitutionality of the stop of that motor vehicle by police); State v. Carter (1994), 69 Ohio
St.3d 57, 63, 630 N.E.2d 355, 360 (“Both passengers and the driver have standing regarding the
legality of a stopping because when the vehicle is stopped, they are equally seized, and their
freedom of movement is equally affected.”).



of his jurisdiction is not unreasonable per se under the Fourth Amendment. And since
Hershberger had observed their vehicle driving without its headlights on in the dark, the officer
had probable cause to make the stop. For these reasons, the court of appeals erred in its ruling,
and its decision should be reversed.

In addition, the exclusionary rule only applies to constitutional and not statutory
violations (unless the statute should provide for such a remedy).'"® As this Court noted in Hollen,
violations of criminal statutes or rules do not warrant the application of the exclusionary rule.

The exclusionary rule has been applied by this court to violations
of a constitutional nature only. In State v. Myers (1971), 26 Ohio
St.2d 190, 196, 271 N.E.2d 245, this court enunciated the policy
that the exclusionary rule would not be applied to statutory
violations falling short of constitutional violations, absent a
legislative mandate requiring the application of the exclusionary
rule. In State v. Downs (1977), 51 Ohio St.2d 47, 63-64, 364
N.E.2d 1140, the violation of Crim.R. 41 with respect to the return
of a search warrant was described as non-constitutional in
magnitude and the exclusionary rule was not applied. Also, in
State v. Davis (1978), 56 Ohio St.2d 51, 381 N.E.2d 641, it was
held that fingerprint evidence obtained in violation of a statute
does not have to be excluded.

It is clear from these cases that the exclusionary rule will not

ordinarily be applied to evidence which is the product of police
conduct violative of state law but not violative of constitutional

rights.
Hollen, 64 Ohio St.2d at 234-235, 416 N.E.2d at 600.

The Hollen case is particularly apt to the instant case since it involved an extra-

jurisdictional arrvest in violation of Ohio’s statute prescribing a police officer’s territorial

®See City of Kettering v. Hollen (1980), 64 Ohio St.2d 232, 18 0.0.3d 435, 416 N.E.2d
598; State v. Wilmoth (1986), 22 Ohio St.3d 251, 262, 490 N.E.2d 1236, 1244 (“This court has
recognized that the suppression of evidence pursuant to the exclusionary rule applies only to
those searches which were carried out in violation of an individual's constitutional rights.”).
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jurisdiction to effect an arrest. In upholding the evidence seized from an extra-territorial arrest,
the Court held that the exclusionary rule did not apply to these statutory violations.

The exclusionary rule will not be applied to the testimony of an
arresting police officer regarding the actions of 2 misdemeanant
observed as a result of an extraterritorial warrantless arrest, even
though the arrest is unauthorized under existing state law, if the
arrest is based on probable cause that a crime was committed
within the officer's jurisdiction, and if the officer was in hot pursuit
of the misdemeanant.

Hollen, supra, at syllabus.

Therefore, to avoid the preclusive effect of the Hollen holding, Jones and Skropits had to
elevate their suppression claim into a constitutional oﬁe in order to gain benefit of the
exclusionary rule. They attempted to do so by claiming that Officer Hershberger did not have
reasonable suspicion to stop the Ford Ranger. Under Terry, the police, in order to effect an

investigative stop and search of a person, must demonstrate “specific and articulable facts which,

taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion.”"

In Terry, the United States Supreme Court held that a police officer
may stop and investigate unusual behavior, even without probable
cause to arrest, when he reasonably concludes that the individual is
engaged in criminal activity. In assessing that conclusion, the
officer "must be able to point to specific and articulable facts
which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts,
reasonably warrant that intrusion.” Id. at 21, 88 S.Ct. at 1880.
Furthermore, the standard against which the facts are judged must
be an objective one: "[W]ould the facts available to the officer at
the moment of the seizure or the search 'warrant a man of
reasonable caution in the belief that the action taken was
appropriate?" Id. at 21-22, 88 S.Ct. at 1880.

State v. Andrews (1991), 57 Ohio St.3d 86, 87, 565 N.E.2d 1271,
1273, cert. denied (1991), 501 U.S. 1220.

PTerry v. Ohio (1968),392 U.S. 1, 21.

11



The Andrews Court further noted the sometimes elusive concept of “reasonable

suspicion,” given the fact-specific nature of the analysis and the myriad factual situations that can

OCcCur.

Since Terry, courts have struggled with the elusive concept of what
comprises a reasonable suspicion that someone is engaging in, or
about to engage in, criminal activity. "Terms like 'articulable
reasons’ and 'founded suspicion' are not self-defining; they fall
short of providing clear guidance dispositive of the myriad factual
situations that arise." Cortez, supra, 449 U.S. at 417, 101 S.Ct. at
695. Fleshing these terms out, courts have concluded that an
objective and particularized suspicion that criminal activity was
afoot must be based on the entire picture--a totality of the
surroiinding circumstances. /d. at 417-418, 101 S.Ct. at 694-655;
State v. Bobo (1988), 37 Ohio St.3d 177, 524 N.E.2d 489; United
States v. Rickus (C.A.3, 1984), 737 F.2d 360, 365. Furthermore,
these circumstances are to be viewed through the eves of the
reasonable and prudent police officer on the scene who must

react to events as they unfold. United States v. Hall
(C.A.D.C.1976), 525 F.2d 857, 859; State v. Freeman (1980), 64
Ohio St.2d 291, 295, 18 0.0.3d 472, 474, 414 N.E.2d 1044, 1047.
A court reviewing the officer's actions must give due weight to his
experience and training and view the evidence as it would be
understood by those in law enforcement. Cortez, supra.

Andrews, 57 Ohio St.3d at §7-88, 565 N.E.2d at 1273 (footnote
omitted).”?

*In the omitted footnote, the supreme court quoted a particularly relevant passage in the
United States Supreme Court’s Cortez decision:

In Cortez, the United States Supreme Court explained an
assessment of the circumstances in their entirety as follows: "The
analysis proceeds with various objective observations, information
from police reports, if such are available, and consideration of
certain kinds of lawbreakers. From these data, a trained officer
draws inferences and makes deductions--inferences and deductions
that might well elude an untrained person.

12



This Court, furthermore, has noted that there is a split of authority on whether a traffic
stop is constitutionally reasonable when supported by reasonable suspicion, or whether the
heightened standard of pfobable cause is required.?’ After noting and acknowledging this split of
authority and ambiguity over the appropriate standard, the Court nonetheless sidestepped the
issue in Godwin and concluded that a police officer who personally observed a traffic violation
has probable cause to make the stop.”” As the court noted in assessing the probable cause

determination in the context of a traffic stop:

"The process does not deal with hard certainties, but with
probabilities. Long before the law of probabilities was articulated
as such, practical people formulated certain common-sense
conclusions about human behavior; jurors as factfinders are
permitted to do the same--and so are law enforcement officers.
Finally, the evidence thus collected must be seen and weighed not
in terms of library analysis by scholars, but as understood by those
versed in the field of law enforcement." Cortez, supra, 449 U.S. at
418, 101 S.Ct. at 695.

Andrews, 57 Ohio St.3d at 88 n.2, 565 N.E.2d at 1273 n.2.

See also United States v. Cortez (1981), 449 U.S. 411.

2City of Bowling Green v. Godwin, 110 Ohio St.3d 58, 2006-Ohio-3563, 850 N.E.2d
698, 9 13. ‘

2 As the supreme court held:

Similarly, in this case, we conclude that the Bowling Green police
officer, having observed the appellee violating the posted signs,
had probable cause to believe that the offense of disregarding a
traffic-control device had been committed. We therefore need not
decide whether mere reasonable suspicion of the commission of a
minor misdemeanor traffic offense, as opposed to probable cause,
justifies an officer in stopping a driver.

Godwin, 110 Ohio St.3d 58, 2006-Ohio-3563, 850 N.E.2d 698, 1
13,

13



Probable cause is determined by examining the historical facts, i.e.,
the events leading up to a stop or search, "viewed from the
standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer." Ornelas v.
United States (1996), 517 U.S. 690, 696, 116 S.Ct. 1657, 134
L.Ed.2d 911. Determination of probable cause that a traffic
offense has been committed, " 'like all probable cause
determinations, is fact-dependent and will turn on what the officer
knew at the time he made the stop.' " (Emphasis sic.) Erickson, 76
Ohio St.3d at 10, 665 N.E.2d 1091, quoting Unrited States v.
Ferguson (C.A.6, 1993), 8 F.3d 385, 391. Thus, the question
whether a traffic stop violates the Fourth Amendment to the United
States Constitution requires an objective assessment of a police
officer's actions in light of the facts and circumstances.

Godwin, 110 Ohio St.3d 58, 2006-Ohio-3563, 850 N.E.2d 698, §
14.

In the instant case, Officer Hershberger had probable cause to stop the red Ford Ranger.
While searching for one of the vehicles in a hit-skip accident — and specifically for the red Ford
Ranger that had apparently rear-ended into a van — Officer Hershberger was approached by the
oécupants of a pick-up truck who alerted him to a vehicle that had just almost run into them and
was driving without its headlights on. The vehicle was coming westbound towards them, so
Hershberger proceeded on State Route 172 towards East Canton and the reported vehicle.
Shortly afterwards, Hershberger saw the vehicle — a red Ford Ranger without its headlights on
and with a smashed front — pass him. He immediately turned around and made the traffic stop
for driving during in the dark without its headlights on. Hershberger personally observed this

traffic violation and therefore had probable cause to make the traffic stop.”

%Gee R.C. 4513.03 (requiring lights on motor vehicles between sunset and sunrise and
whenever there is insufficient light to see 1,000 feet ahead); R.C. 4513.04 (all motor vehicles
must be equipped with at least two operable headlights); R.C. 4513.14 (two headlights must be
displayed during the times prescribed in R.C. 4513.03); R.C. 4513.15 (headlight illumination
required).
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In addition, Hershberger had probable cause to believe that this red Ford Ranger was the
one involved in the earlier hit-skip accident in East Canton. Hershberger immediately responded
to the call that an accident had occurred, but did not find the vehicles there. After talking to a
witness to the accident, the officer spent about five minutes of cleaning the roadway of the debris
left from the accident — debris from the front headlights of the red Ford Ranger identified by the
witness. Hershberger then proceeded to the village hall, located about 30 yards from the accident
site, when he received another dispatch call relative to the Ranger. He immediately proceeded to
the old Coyote restaurant, located about a half mile from East Canton, where he looked for the
vehicle there and at the nearby trailer park. Not finding the Ranger, Hershberger opted to
continue westbound for another half mile to the intersection of State Route 172 and Trump Road.
While in a parking lot at this intersection, Hershberger was confronted by the occupants in the
pick-up truck about a vehicle driving without its headlights, despite it being dark outside, and
had almost collided with the pick-up truck. Hershberger immediately left the parking lot, going
east towards East Canton, and passed the red Ford Ranger without its headlights on and its front
smashed in. Given the closeness in time and location, Hershberger had probable cause to believe
that this red Ford Ranger was the one that had shortly before rear-ended a van in East Canton and
left the scene westbound.

The court of appeals also found that the stop and search violated the Fourth Amendment
because Hershberger was outside of his jurisdiction when he observed the traffic violation of
driving at night without headlights and when he made the traffic stop and search of the vehicle.
The appellate court ruled that this extraterritorial conduct on Hershberger’s part was

unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment. In other words, Hershberger should have simply
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followed the vehicle and notified the appropriate law enforcement officers for the jurisdiction
where the vehicle was located. And since the vehicle was moving, he would have to notify
potentially more than one law enforcement agency since the vehicle could conceivably move to
another jurisdiction before the notified one reached the scene. The appellate court’s conception
of reasonableness under these circumstances strains both logic and common sense, and is not
required by the Fourth Amendment.

As noted by Judge Edwards in her dissent, this case is controlled by this Court’s
Weideman decision. In that decision, the Court specifically held in its syllabus that
extraterritorial traffic stops, if supported by probable cause based upon a police officer observing
a traffic violation, are not unreasonable per se under the Fourth Amendment.

Where a law enforcement officer, acting outside the officer's
statutory territorial jurisdiction, stops and detains a motorist for an
offense committed and observed outside the officer's jurisdiction,
the seizure of the motorist by the officer is not unreasonable per se
under the Fourth Amendment. Therefore, the officer’s statutory
violation does not require suppression of all evidence flowing from
the stop.

Weideman, supra, at syllabus.

The instant case presents facts that fall squarely within the syllabus holding of Weideman.
Officer Hershberger personally observed the Ford Ranger driving without its headlights on at
night. Hershberger was admittedly outside of his jurisdiction at this time, as well as when he
immediately pulled the Ford Ranger over. Therefore, under Weideman, this traffic stop was not
unreasonable per se, and the court of appeals erred in holding that it was unreasonable in this

casc.

The rationale of Weideman is further supported by the recent decision of the United States

16



Supreme Court in Virginia v. Moore2* In Moore, the Supreme Court upheld a search after an
arrest for a traffic violation (driving with a suspended license), even though state law precluded
an arrest in this case and required instead the issuance of a summons. According to the Court,
the search and seizure did not offend the Fourth Amendment since the police had probable cause
to believe an offense had been committed, even though the arrest violated state law. Similarly m
the instant case, Hershberger’s violation of Ohio’s territorial jurisdiction law did not

constitutionally invalidate the traffic stop since he had probable cause to make the stop.

CONCLUSION

The effect of the ruling of the court of appeal in this case is to preclude police officers
from making extra-territorial traffic stops of motor vehicles (or seizures of individuals) when the
officer had personal observed a traffic (or criminal) offense committed by the motor vehicle (or
individual). In this case, the police officer pulled the vehicle over for driving without its
headlights on at night, as well as its connection to an earlier hit-skip accident that left significant
debris on the road. The court of appeals held this traffic stop, and the subsequent search, as
unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

The appellate court’s decision is wrong since it ignores this Court’s syllabus holding in
Weideman. In addition, the appellate court’s decision effectilvely precludes police ofﬁcers from
enforcing the laws they personally see being violated outside of their territorial jurisdictions. For
example, the appellate decision would have precluded this officer from pulling over the vehicle

in question for suspected DUI even though the officer personally observed the vehicle being

Virginia v. Moore (2008), __U.S. __, 128 S.Ct. 1598, __ L.Ed.2d __.
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driven very erratically or dangerously. Because he would be outside of his territorial jurisdiction,
the appellate court would limit this officer’s activities to merely following the vehicle while
notifying law enforcement of that territorial jurisdiction, until the vehicle happened to enter that
officer’s jurisdiction.

Such a ruling will have a devastating impact upon law enforcement activities and
practices within the Fifth Appellate District. Police often find themselves leaving their
jurisdictions to investigate ongoing or recently committed crimes. In addition to the investigative
motivation, officers are also motivated to protect the public at large, and not just those citizens
within their territorial jurisdiction. This Court has held that the constitutions do not restrict law
enforcement this way. Therefore, this Court should reverse the decision of the court of appeals

and untie those restrictions.

JOHN D. FERRERO, #0018590
PROSECUTING ATTORNEY, -
STARK COUNTY, OHIO

nald Mark Caldwell

Ohio Sup. Ct. Reg. No. 0030663
Assistant Prosecuting Attormey
- Appellate Section
110 Central Plaza, South - Suite 510
Canton, Ohio  44702-1413
(330) 451-7897
FAX: (330) 451-7965

Counsel for Plaintiff-Appellant
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Wise, J.

{1} Defendant-appellant Adam David Jones appeals his sentence and
conviction entered in the Stark County Court of Common Plsas on one count of
Carrying a Concealed Weapon, a felony of the fourth degree, and one count of Unlawful
Possession of a Dangerous Ordnance, a felony of the fifth degree.

{12} Plaintiff-appeliee is the State of Ohio.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

{13} On Sepiember 27, 2006, an East Canton Poliée Officer Mitchell
Hershberger responded to a call regarding an automobile accident. (Supp. T. at 9).
When he arrived at the location of the accident, 113 East Nassau Street in East Canton,
neither vehicle was still at the scene. Officer Hershberger talked with a withess who
worked at the nearby gas station, and was told that a small red Ford Ranger had struck
the rear end of a full-size van. (Supp. T. at 10). The driver of the van got out and
exchanged words with the driver of the Ford Ranger. (Supp. T. at 10). The driver of the
van then got back into his vehicie, made a U-turn, and left the scene. (Supp. T. at 10},
The Ford Ranger also left the scene, proceeding westbound on Nassay Street. {(Supp.
T. at 10)

{14} At the scene the officer found some debris which appeared to be from a
Ford Ranger. (Supp. T. at 11). Approximately ten minutes later, after the officer had left
the scene and had returned to the Town Hall where he was also bailiffing, the officer
received a dispatch advising that a red Ford Ranger with a smashed front and
headiights out was "hiding" in the area of the Old Coyote Restaurant, which is located in

Osnaburg Township approximately one-half mile from East Canton. {Supp. T. at 12-13).
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The officer proceeded to the Old Coyote Restaurant; however there was no sign of the
vehicle as reported. (Supp. T. at 12-13, 20, 26-27). The officer continued to search for
the vehicle, searching a nearby trailer park without success. {Supp. T. at 28). The officer
next traveled westbound approximately another one-half mile on West Nassau
Street/Lincolnway out to Trump Road to check the businesses located there, and then
returned “doing a sweep back towards town.” (Supp. T. at 13).

{15} The Officer stopped to check a car wash parking lot, in Canton Township,
when another motorist pulled up to him and complained of a vehicle traveling
westbound, which was driving without headlights, and which had nearly struck his
vehidle. (Supp. T. at 14-15, 20). The Officer drove back east until he encountered a
Ford Ranger pick-up truck. (Supp. T. at 15). The Officer then turned around and initiated
a traffic stop. (Supp. T. at 15). The front end of the truck was damaged and the
headlights were not on. (Supp. T. at 16). Adam Jones was driving the vehicle and
Shawn Skropits was the only passenger. (Supp. T. at 17-18).

{16} Almost immediately following the approach and encounier with the
occupants of the vehicle, both individuals indicated that there were guns in the vehicle.
Both Appellant Adam David Jones and his passenger, Shawn Michael Skropits, were
subsequently arrested.

{17} On November 2, 2006, Appellant Adam Jones and his passenger Shawn
Skropits were each indicted on one count of Carrying a Concealed Weapon, a fourth
degree felony, and one count of Unlawful Possessicn of a Dangerous Ordnance, a fifth

degree felony. The indictments also charged that each were either the principal offender
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or they aided and abetted each other. The men were charged with having four
handguns and a sawed-off shotgun, along with ammunition for the guns, in the vehicle.

{18} On January 22, 2007, Appellant Adam Jones filed his Motion to Dismiss
and/or Suppress.

{19} On January 30, 2007, the trial court held a Suppression Hearing.

{910} At said Suppression hearing, the Officer stated that he was not in "hot
pursuit” of any vehicle during this investigation (Supp. T. at 25, 32). He alsc stated that
he did not contact another police department for assistance before he initiated the traffic
stop. (SBupp. T. at 28-30). The Officer stated that he was investigating a "hit skip
accident.” (Supp. T. at 20). Later he stated that he suspected the suspect of littering by
leaving part of the vehicle in the roadway. (Supp. T. at 41), Finally, the Officer admitted
that, according 1o the only witness to the accident, the drivers of the two vehicles spoke
briefly and the van left the scene first. (Supp. T. at 41).

{f11} By Judgment Entry filed February 2, 2007, the trial court overruled
Appellant's Motion to Suppress.

{112} After the suppression motion was overruled, Appellant Jones changed his
former plea of not guilty to a plea of no contest to the charges in the indictment. Based
upon the evidence presented at the suppression hearing, the trial courf found Appellant
Jones guilly as charged and ordered a probation investigation report. Upon the
completion of this report, the trial court imposed a community control sanction for a
period of two years.

{1113} Appellant Jones thereafter filed the instant appeal fo challenge the court's

suppression ruling, assigning the following errar for review:
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ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

{114} “I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING THE APPELLANT'S
MOTION TO SUPPRESS”

I

{115} In his sole assignment of error, Appellant argues that the police had
insufficient reasonable suspicion or probable cause to support their initial stop of his
vehicle. We agree.

{1116} Revised Code §2935.03(A)(1) governs a police officer's jurisdiction to
arrest. It is undisputed in this case that the arresting officer was outside of his territorial
jurisdiction when he made the arrest as the subject vehicle was located outside of the
East Canton border. When determining whether an extraterritorial stop triggers the
exclusionary rule, a court must determine, under the totality of the circumstances,
whether the statutory viclation rises to the level of a constitutional violation, i.e., whether
the police officer had reasonable suspicion to stop and sufficient probable cause to
arrest appellant. Stafe v. Weideman, 94 Ohic St.3d 501, 764 N.E.2d 957, 2002-Ohio-
1484.

{117} if the totality of the facts and circumstances demonstrate that police had a
reasonable, articulable suspicion of criminal conduct sufficient fo warrant the
investigative stop and detention, and probable cause to arest, then while that
extraterritorial seizure may viclate R.C. §2935.03, it does not rise to the level of a
constitutional viclation requiring suppression of all evidence derived from the stop, Id.

{118} The Fourth Amendment states that "[t]he right of the people to be secure

in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and
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seizures, shall not be violated * * *" The amendment has been extended to seizures of
passengers in traffic stops under the raticnale that the amendment “protects people, not
places.” Katz v. United States (1967), 389 U.S. 347, 351, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576.
Using the reasonableness reguirement of the amendment, the Llnited States Supreme
Court has held that a seizure must be reasonable both at its inception and throughout
its duration. See Terry v. Ohio (1968), 392 U.S. 1, 20, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed 2d 88%.

{119} An investigatory sfop is permissible if a law enforcement officer has a
reasonable suspicion, based on specific and articulable facts, that the individual to be
stopped may be involved in criminal activity. Terry v. Ohio (1968), 392 U.S. 1, 21-22, 88
S.Ct. 1868. When determining whether or not an investigative traffic stop is supported
by a reasonable, articulable suspicion of criminal activity, the stop must be viewed in
light of the totality of circumstances surrounding the stop. Stafe v. Bobo (1888), 37 Ohio
St.3d 177, 524 N.E.2d 489, paragraph ene of the syllabus, cert. denied (1988), 488 U.S.
910, 109 S.Ct. 264.

{1126} Upen review of the facts in the case sub judice, we do not find that the
officer had reascnable suspicion, based on specific and articulable facts, that the driver
of the vehicle or his passenger may have been involved in criminal activity. The
dispatch call received by Officer Hershberger was for a traffic accident. Upon driving to
the scene and finding that the vehicles were no longer there, he interviewed a witness
who informed him that the two drivers involved in the accident spoke to one another and
that both left the scene thereafter, Based on this information, Officer Hershberger had
no reason to believe that a crime had occurred. Even after he received the second call

about the red Ford Ranger “hiding” near the Coyote Restaurant, which was outside his
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jurisdiction, he still had no reason to believe that a crime had been committed. He did
not drive out of his jurisdiction in “hot pursuit”. We further find that the officer did not
have jurisdiction to pull over the vehicle in question based on the complaint he received
while outside of his jurisdiction, fram another motorist, that a vehicle driving without its
headlights on had almost hit him.

{921} Accordingly, we find the officer did not have a reasonable suspicion of
criminal activity sufficient to justify the extra-territorial stop in the case sub judice.

{122} We therefore find that Officer Hershbergers action in making an
extraterritorial stop of the vehicle in the case sub judice viclates the reasonableness
requirement of the Fourth Amendment. Officer Snow's statutory violation in this case
therefore requires suppression of all evidence flowing from the stop.

{fi23} Accordingly, we hereby sustain Appellant’s assignment of error.

{5124} For the foregoing reascns, the judgment of the Court of Common Pleas of
Stark County, Ohio, is reversed and this matter is remanded for further proceedings
consistent with the law and this opinion.

By: Wise, J

Farmer, P. J., concurs,
Edwards, J., dissents.

JUDGES
JWWId 924
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EDWARDS, J., DISSENTING OPINION

{025} | respectfully dissent from the majority's analysis and disposition of
appellant's sole assignment of error.

{926} The majority, in the case subjudice, finds that the officer did not have a
reasonable suspicion of criminal activity sufficient to justify the extra-territorial stop in
the case sub judice. The majority further finds that the officer's action in stopping the
vehicle violated the reasonableness requirement of the Fourth Amendment.

1927} The Chio Supreme Court, in the syllabus of Sfafe v. Weidemnan, 94 Ohio
St.3d 501, 2002-Ohio-1484, 764 N.E.2d 997, held as follows:

{928} “Where a law enforcement officer, acting outside the officer's statutory
territorial jurisdiction, stops and detains a motorist for an offense committed and
observed outside the officer's jurisgiction, the seizure of the motorist by the officer is not
unreasonable per se under the Fourth Amendment. Therefore, the officer's statutory
violation does not require suppression of all evidence flowing from the stop.”

{129} At the suppression hearing in this matter, Officer Hershberger testified that
he pulled over the vehicle because it had no headlights on. Supp. 7. at 40. There also
was testimony adduced at the hearing that it was dark outside at that time.

{930} Based on Weideman, supra., | would find that the stop of the vehicle by
the officer in this matter Was not unreasenable per se under the Fourth Amendment and
that the officer’s statutory violation does not require suppression of all evidence flowing
from the stop. As noted by appelies, the officer personally observing appellant driving
in the dark without headlights and therefore had reasonable suspicion to make the

traffic stop.
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{931} Based on the foregoing, | would find that the trial court did not err in

denying the Motion to Suppress in this case.

Judge Julie A. Edwards

JAE/Mr rn



HECYS Fisanin
CLERK OF COLRT OF A
Sk o s

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR STARK COUNTY, QHIO
FIFTH APPELLATE DISTRICT 9700729 py 2: 5

STATE OF OHIO
Plaintiff-Appeliee

v : JUDGMENT ENTRY

ADAM DAVID JONES :

Defendant-Appellant : Case No. 2007 CA 00139

For the reasons stated in our accompanying Memorandum-Opinion, the
judgment of the Court of Common Pleas of Stark County, Chio, is reversed and
remanded for further proceedings consistent with this opinien.

Costs to appellee.

;{i‘i /‘/f A LR - A

JUDGES



,l\{. ' ]; '“J\ln

Cﬁ’ C\kﬁICFM
STARK tALS
COURT OF APPEALS COWTYO}M
STARK COUNTY, ORIO 07
FIFTH APPELLATE DISTRICT ocY 29 PN 2:50

STATE OF OHIO
Piaintiff-Appellee

vs-

SHAWN MICHAEL SKROPITS

Defendant-Appeliant

CHARACTER OF PROCEEDING:

~ JUDGMENT:

DATE OF JUDGMENT ENTRY:

APPEARANCES:
For Plaintiff-Appellee

JOHN D. FERRERQD
PROSECUTING ATTORNEY
RONALD MARK CALDWELL
ASSISTANT PROSECUTOR

110 Central Plaza South, Suite 510
Canton, Ohio 44702

JUDGES:

Hon. Sheila G. Farmer, P. J.
Hon. John W. Wise, J.

Hon. Julie A. Edwards, J.

Case No. 2007 CA 00098

QPINION

Criminal Appeal from the Court of Common
Pleas, Case No. 2006 CR 01655(A)

Reversed and Remanded

For Defendant-Appellant

GEORGE URBAN

111 Second Street, NW
Suite 302

Canton, Ohio 44702



Stark County, Case No. 2007 CA 00098 2

Wise, J.

{{1} Defendant-appellant Shawn Skropits appeals his sentence and conviction
entered in the Sfark Cdunty Court of Common Pleas on one count of Camying a
Concealed Weapon, a felony of the fourth degree, and one count of Unlawful
Possession of a Dangerous Crdnance, a felony of the fifth degree.

{f12} Plaintiff-appellee is the State of Ohio.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

On September 27, 2006, an East Canton Police Officer Mitchell Hershberger
responded to a call regarding an automobile accident. (Supp. T. at 8). When he arrived
at the location of the accident, 113 East Nassau Street in East Canton, neither vehicle
was still at the scene. Officer Hershberger talked with a witness who worked at the
nearby gas station, and was told that a small red Ford Ranger had struck the rear end
of a full-size van. (Supp. T. at 10). The driver of the van got out and exchanged words
with the driver of the Ford Ranger. (Supp. T. at 10). The driver of the van then got back
into his vehicle, made a U-turn, and left the scene. (Supp. T. at 10). The Ford Ranger
also left the scene, proceeding westhound on Nassau Street. (Supp. T. at 10)

{93} At the scene the officer found some debris which appeared to be from a
Ford Ranger. (Supp. T. at 11). Approximately ten minutes later, after the officer had leit
the scene and had returned to the Town Hall where he was aiso bailiffing, the officer
received a dispatch advising that a red Ford Ranger with a smashed front and
headlights out was "hiding" in the area of the Old Coyote Restaurant, which is located in
Osnaburg Township approximately one-half mile from East Canton. (Supp. T. at 12-13).

The officer proceeded to the Old Coyote Restaurant, however there was no sign of the



Stark County, Case No. 2007 CA 00098 3

vehicle as reported. (Supp. T. at 12-13, 20, 26-27). The officer continued to search for
the vehicle, searching a nearby trailer park without success. (Supp. T. at 28). The officer
next traveled westbound approximately another one-half mile on West Nassau
Street/Lincolnway out to Trump Road to check the businesses located there, and then
returned “doing a sweep back towards fown.” (Supp. T. at 13).

{4} The Officer stopped to check a car wash parking lot, in Canton Township,
when another motorist pulled up to him and complained of a vehicle traveling
westbound, which was driving without headlights, and which had nearly struck his
vehicle. (Supp. T. at 14-15, 20). The Officer drove back east until he encountered a
Ford Ranger pick-up truck. {Supp. T. at 15), The Officer then turned around and initiated
a traffic stop. (Supp. T. at 15). The front end of the truck was damaged and the
headlights were not on. (Supp. T. at 16). Adam Jones was driving the vehicle and
Shawn Skropits was the only passenger. (Supp. T. at 17-18).

{15} Almost immediately following the approach and encounter with the
occupants of the vehicle, both individuals indicated that there were guns in the vehicle.
Both Shawn Skropits and Adam Jones were subsequently arrested.

{116} ©On November 2, 2006, Appellants Shawn Skropits and Adam Jones were
each indicted on one count of Carrying a Concealed Weapon, a fourth degree felony,
and one count of Unlawful Possession of a Dahgemus Ordnance, a fifth degree felony.
The indictments also charged that each were either the principal offender or they aided
and abetted each other. The men were charged with having four handguns and a

sawed-off shotgun, along with ammunition for the guns, in the vehicle.
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{7} On Januéry 17, 2007, Appellant Shawn Skropits filed a Motion to Dismiss
and/or Suppress. |

{18} On January 22, 2007, Adam Jones filed his Motion to Dismiss and/or
Suppress.

{98} On January 30, 2007, the trial court held a Suppression Hearing.

{10} At said Suppression hearing, the Officer stated that he was not in "hot
pursuit' of any vehicle during this investigation (Supp. T. at 25, 32). He also stated that
he did not contact another police department for assistance before he initiated the traffic
stop. (Supp. T. at 29-30). The Officer stated that he was investigating a "hit skip
accident,” {Supp. T. at 20). Later he stated that he suspected the suspect of littering by
leaving part of the vehicle in the roadway. {Supp. T. at 41). Finally, the Officer admitied
that, according to the only witness 10 the accident, the drivers of the two vehicles spoke
briefly and the van left the scene first, (Supp. T. at 41).

{111} By Judgment Entry filed February 2, 2007, the trial court overruled both
Motions to Suppress.

{112} After the suppression motions were overruled, Appellant Skropits changed
his former plea of not guilty to a plea of no confest to the charges in the indictment.
Based upon the evidence presented at the suppression hearing, the trial court found
Appellant Skropits guilty as charged and ordered a probation investigation report. Upon
the completion of this report, the trial court imposed a community contro! sanction for a
period of two years.

{1113} Appellant Skropits thereafter filed the instant appeal to challenge the

court's suppression ruling, assigning the following error for review:



Stark County, Case No. 2007 CA 00098 5

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

{914} “I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING THE APPELLANT'S
MOTION TO SUPPRESS.”

1.

{915} In his scle assignment of emor, Appellant argues that the police had
insufficient reasonable suspicion or probable cause to support their initial stop of the
vehicle in which he was a passenger. We agree.

{916} Revised Code §2935.03(A)(1) governs a police officer's jurisdiction to
arrest. it is undisputed in this case that the arresting officer was oufside of his territorial
jurisdiction when he made the arrest as the subject vehicle was located outside of the
East Canton border. When determining whether an extraterritorial stop triggers the
exclusionary rule, a court must determine, under the totality of the circumstances,
whether the statutory violation rises te the level of a constitutional violation, i.e., whether
the police officer had reasonable suspicion to stop and sufficient probable cause to
arrest appellant. State v. Weideman, 94 Ohio 8t.3d 501, 764 N.E.2d 997, 2002-Ohio-
1484.

{17} i the totality of the facts and circumstances demonstrate that police had a
reasonable, articulable suspicion of criminal conduct sufficient to warrant the
investigative stop and detention, and probable cause to arrest, then while that
extraterritorial seizure may violate R.C. §2935.03, it does not rise to the level of a
constitutional violation requiring suppression of all evidence derived from the stop. Id.

{1118} The Fourth Amendment states that “ft}he right of the people to be secure

in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and
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seizures, shall not be viclated * * *.” The amendment has been extended to seizures of
passengers in traffic stops under the rationale that the amendment “protects people, not
places.” Katz v. United States (1967), 388 U.S. 347, 351, 88 5.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576.
Using the reasonableness requirement of the amendment, the United States Supreme
Court has held that a seizure must be reasonable both at its inception and throughout
its duration. See Terry v. Ohio (1968), 392 U.S. 1, 20, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed.2d 889.
.{1|19} An investigatory stop is permissible if a law enforcement officer has a
reasonable suspicion, based on specific and arficulable facts, that the individual to be
stopped may be involved in criminal activity. Terry v. Ohio (1968), 392 U.S. 1, 21-22, 88
S.Ct. 1868. When determining whether or not an investigative traffic stop is supported
by a reascnable, articulable suspicion of criminal activity, the stop must be viewed in
light of the totality of circumstances surrounding the stop. Stafe v. Bobo (1988), 37 Ohio
St.3d 177, 524 N.E.2d 488, paragraph one of the syllabus, cert. denied (1988}, 488 U.S.
910, 109 S.Ct. 264.
{120} Ohic Courts have held that & passenger as well as the driver of a vehicle
has standing to challenge the lawfulness of a traffic stop. State v. Amburgy (1997),
122 Ohio App.3d 277, 282-83. The United States Supreme Court recently reached the
same conclusion and found that "[a] traffic stop necessarily curtails the travel a
passenger has chosen just as much as it halts the driver ... and the police activity that
normally amounts to intrusion on the privacy and personal security does not normally
{and does not here) distinguish between passenger and driver." Brendifin v. California

(2007), 127 S.Ct. 2400, 188 L.E.2d 132.
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£921} Upon review of the facts in the case sub judice, we do not find that the
officer had reasonable suspicion, based on specific and articﬁlable facts, that the driver
of the vehicle or his passenger may have been involved in criminal activity. The
dispatch call received by Officer Hershberger was for a traffic accident. Upon driving to
the scene and finding that the vehicles were no longer there, he interviewed a witness
who informed him that the two drivers involved in the accident spoke to one another and
that both left the scene thereafter. Based on this information, Officer Hershberger had
no reason to believe that a crime had occurred. Even after he received the second call
about the red Ford Ranger “hiding” near the Coyote Restaurant, which was outside his
jurisdiction, he still had no reason to believe that a crime had been committed. He did
not drive out of his jurisdiction in “hot pursuit”. We further find that the officer did not
have jurisdiction to pull over the vehicle in question based on the complaint he received
while outside of his jurisdiction, from another motorist, that a vehicle driving without its
headlights on had almost hit him.

{y22} Accordingly, we find the officer did not have a reascnable suspicion of
criminal activity sufficient to justify the extra-territorial stop in the case sub judice.

{9123} We therefore find that Officer Hershberger's action in making an
extraterritorial stop of the vehicle in the case sub judice viclates the reasonableness
requirement of the Fourth Amendment. Officer Snow's statutory violation in this case
therefore requires suppression of all evidence flowing from the stop.

{1124} Accordingly, we hereby sustain Appellant's assignment of error.
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{1125} For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the Court of Common Pleas of
Stark County, Ohio, is reversed and this matter is remanded for further proceedings

consistent with the law and this opinion.

By: Wise, J.
Farmer, P. J., concurs.

Edwards, J., dissents.

JUDGES
JWWid 924
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EDWARDS, J., DISSENTING OPINION

{426} | respectfully dissent from the majority's analysis and disposition of
appellant’s sole assignment of error.

{427y The majority, in the case sub judice, finds that the officer did not have a
reasonable suspicion of criminal activity sufficient to justify the extra-territorial stop in
the case sub judice. The majority further finds that the officer's action in stopping the
vehicle violated the reasonableness requirement of the Fourth Amendment.

{928} The Ohio Supreme Court, in the syllabus of Sfafe v. Weideman, 94 Ohio
St.3d 501, 2002-Chio-1484, 764 N.E.2d 997, held as follows:

{1291 “Where a law enforcement officer, acting outside the officer's statutory
territorial jurisdiction, stops and detains a motorist for an offense committed and
observed outside the officer’s jurisdiction, the seizure of the motorist by the officer is not
unreasonable per se under the Fourth Amendment. Therefore, the officer's statutory
violation does not require suppression of ail evidence flowing from the stop.”

{930} At the suppression hearing in this matter, Officer Hershberger testified that
he pulled over the vehicie because it had no headlights on. Supp. T. at 40. There also
was testimony adduced at the hearing that it was dark outside at that time,

{431} Based on Weideman, supra., | would find that the stop of the vehicle by
the officer in this matter was not unreasonable per se under the Fourth Amendment and
that the officers statutory viclation does not require suppréssion of all evidence flowing
from the stop. As noted by appellee, the officer personally observing appeliant driving
in the dark without headlights and therefore had reasonable suspicion to make the

fraffic stop.
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{932} Based on the foregoing, | would find that the trial court did not err in

denying the Motion to Suppress in this case.

Judge Julie A. Edwards

JAE/rirmn
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65161 R.C. § 2935.03

BALDWIN'S OHIO REVISED
CODE ANNOTATED
TITLE XXIX. CRIMES--
PROCEDURE
CHAPTER 2935. ARREST,
CITATION, AND
DISPOSITION
ALTERNATIVES
ARREST

Current through 2008 File 50 of the 1271h
GA (2007-2008), apv. by 2/21/08, and filed
with the Secrerary of State by 2/21/08.

2935.03 Arrest and detention until warrant
can be obtained

(A)(1) A sheriff, deputy sheriff, marshal,
deputy marshal, municipal police officer, township
constable, police officer of a township or joint
township police district, member of a police force
employed by a metropolitan housing authority
under division (D) of section 3735.31 of the
Revised Code, member of a police force employed
by a regional transit authority under division (Y)
of section 306.35 of the Revised Code, state
university law enforcement officer appointed
under section 3345.04 of the Revised Code,
veterans’ home police officer appointed under
section 5907.02 of the Revised Code, special
police officer employed by a port authority under
section 4582.04 or 4582.28 of the Revised Code,
or a special police officer employed by a
municipal corporation at a municipal airport, or
other municipal air navigation facility, that has
scheduled operations, as defined m section 119.3
of Title 14 of the Code of Federal Regulations, 14
CF.R. 119.3, as amended, and that is required to
be under a security program and is governed by
aviation security rules of the transportation
security administration of the United States
department of transportation as provided m Parts
1542. and 1544. of Title 49 of the Code of Federal
Regulations, as amended, shall arrest and detain,
until a warrant can be obtained, a person found
violating, within the limits of the political
subdivision, metropolitan housing authority

housing project, regional transit authority facilities
or areas of a municipal corporation that have been
agreed to by a regional transit authority and a
municipal corporation located within its territorial
jurisdiction, college, university, veterans' home
operated under Chapter 5907. of the Revised
Code, port authority, or municipal airport or other
municipal air navigation facility, in which the
peace officer is appointed, employed, or elected, a
law of this state, an ordinance of a municipal
corporation, or a resolution of a township.

*$5162 (2) A peace officer of the department of
natural resources or an individual designated to
perform law enforcement duties under section
511.232, 1545.13, or 6101.75 of the Revised Code
ghall arrest and detain, until a warrant can be
obtained, a person found violating, within the
limits of the peace officer's or individual's
territorial jurisdiction, a law of this state.

(3) The house sergeant at arms if the house
sergeant at arms has arrest authority pursuant to
division (E)(1) of section 101.311 of the Revised
Code and an assistant house sergeant at arms shall
arrest and detain, until a warrant can be obtained,
a person found violating, within the limits of the
sergeant at arms's or assistant sergeant at arms's
territorial  jurisdiction specified in division
(D) 1)) of section 101.311 of the Revised Code
or while providing security pursuant to division
(DY 1)Y(D) of section 101.311 of the Revised Code,
a law of this state, an ordinance of a municipal
corporation, or a resolution of a township.

(B)(1) When there is reasonable ground to
believe that an offense of violence, the offense of
criminal child enticement as defined in section
2905.05 of the Revised Code, the offense of
public indecency as defined in section 2907.09 of
the Revised Code, the offense of domestic
violence as defined in section 2919.25 of the
Revised Code, the offense of violating a protection
order as defined in section 2919.27 of the Revised
Code, the offense of menacing by stalking as
defined in section 2903.211 of the Revised Code,
the offense of aggravated trespass as defined in
section 2911.211 of the Revised Code, a theft
offense as defined in section 2913.01 of the
Revised Code, or a felony drug abuse offense as

© 2008 Thomson/West. No claim to original U.S. Govt, works.
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defined in section 29235.01 of the Revised Code,
has been committed within the limits of the
political  subdivision, metropolitan  housing
authority housing project, regional transit authority
facilities or those areas of a municipal corporation
that have been apgreed to by a regional transit
authority and a municipal corporation located
within  its  territorial  jurisdiction, ceollege,
university, veterans' home operated under Chapter
5907, of the Revised Code, port authority, or
municipal airport or other municipal air navigation
facility, in which the peace officer is appointed,
employed, or elected or within the limits of the
territorial jurisdiction of the peace officer, a peace
officer described in division (A} of this section
may arrest and detain until a warrant can be
obtained any person who the peace officer has
reasonable cause to believe is guilty of the
violation.

*65163 (2) For purposes of division (B)}(1) of
this section, the execution of any of the following
constitutes reasonable ground to believe that the
offense alleged in the statement was committed
and reasonable cause to believe that the person
alleged in the siatement to have committed the
offense is guilty of the violation:

(a) A written statement by a person alleging that
an alleged offender has commitied the offense of
menacing by stalking or aggravated trespass;

(b) A written statement by the administrator of
the interstate compact on mental health appointed
under section 5119.51 of the Revised Code
alleging that a person who had been hospitalized,
institutionalized, or confined in any facility under
an order made pursuant to or under authority of
section 2945.37, 2945.371, 2945.38, 294539,
2945.40, 2945.401, or 2945402 of the Revised
Code has escaped from the facility, from
confinement in a vehicle for transportation o or
from the facility, or from supervision by an
employee of the facility that is incidental to
hospitalization, institutionalization, or
confinement in the facility and that occurs outside
of the facility, in violation of section 2921.34 of
the Revised Code;

(c} A written staternent by the administrator of

any facility in which a person has been
hospitalized, institutionalized, or confined under
an order made pursuant to or under authority of
section 2945.37, 2945.371, 294538, 2945.39,
2945.40, 2945.401, or 2945.402 of the Revised
Code alleging that the person has escaped from the
facility, from confinement in a vehicle for
transportation to or from the facility, or from
supervision by an employee of the facility that is
incidental to hospitalization, institutionalization,
or confinement in the facility and that occurs
outside of the facility, in violation of section
2921.34 of the Revised Code.

(3)a) For purposes of division (B)(1) of this
section, a peace officer described in division (A)
of this section has reasonable grounds to believe
that the offense of domestic violence or the
offense of violating a protection order has been
committed and reasonable cause to believe that a
particular person is guilty of committing the
offense if any of the following occurs:

*65164 (i) A person executes a written
statement alleging that the person in question has
committed the offense of domestic violence or the
offense of violating a protection order against the
person who executes the statement or against a
child of the person who executes the statement.

(i) No written statement of the type described
in division (B)(3)(a)(i) of this section is executed,
but the peace officer, based wpon the peace
officer's own knowledge and observation of the
facts and circumstances of the alleged incident of
the offense of domestic violence or the alleged
incident of the offense of violating a protection
order or based upon any other information,
including, but not limited to, any reasonably
trustworthy information given to the peace officer
by the alleged victim of the alleged incident of the
offense or any witness of the alleged incident of
the offense, concludes that there are reasonable
grounds to believe that the offense of domestic
violence or the offense of violating a protection
order has been committed and reasonable cause to
believe that the persom in question is guilty of
committing the offense.

(iii) No written staternent of the type described

© 2008 Thomson/West. No claim to original U.S. Govt. works.
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in division (B)(3)(a)(i) of this section is executed,
but the peace officer witnessed the person in
question commit the offense of domestic violence
or the offense of violating a protection order.

(b) If pursuant to division (B)(3)(a) of this
section a peace officer has reasonable grounds to
believe that the offense of domestic violence or
the offense of violating a protection order has been
committed and reasonable cause to believe that a
particular person is guilty of committing the
offense, it is the preferred course of action in this
state that the officer arrest and detain that person
pursuant to division (B)(1) of this section until a
warrant ¢an be obtained.

If pursuant to division (B)(3)(a) of this section a
peace officer has reasonable grounds to believe
that the offense of domestic violence or the
offense of violating a protection order has been
committed and reasonable cause to believe that
family or household members have committed the
offense against each other, it is the preferred
course of action in this state that the officer,
pursuant to division (B)(1) of this section, arrest
and detain until a warrant can be obtained the
family or household member who committed the
offense and whom the officer has reasonable cause
to believe is the primary physical aggressor. There
is no preferred course of action in this state
regarding any other family or household member
who committed the offense and whom the officer
does not have reasonable cause to believe is the
primary physical aggressor, but, pursuant to
division (B)(1) of this section, the peace officer
may arrest and detain until a warrant can be
obtained any other family or household member
who committed the offense and whom the officer
does not have reasomable cause to believe is the
primary physical aggressor.

*65165 (c) If a peace officer described in
division (A) of this section does not amrest and
detain a person whom the officer has rcasonable
cause to believe committed the offense of
domestic violence or the offense of violating a
protection order when it is the preferred course of
action in this state pursuant to division (B)}3)}b)
of this section that the officer arrest that person,
the officer shall articulate in the written report of

the incident required by section 2935.032 of the
Revised Code a clear statement of the officer's
reasons for not arresting and detaining that person
until a warrant can be obtained.

{(d) In determining for purposes of division
(B)(3)(b) of this section which family or
household member is the primary physical
ageressor in a situation in which family or
household members have committed the offense
of domestic violence or the offense of violating a
protection order against each other, a peace officer
described in division (A) of this section, in
addition to amy other relevant circumstances,
should consider all of the following:

(i) Any history of domestic violence or of amy
other violent acts by either person involved in the
alleged offense that the officer reasonably can
ascertain; -

(ii) If violence is alleged, whether the alleged
violence was caused by a person acting in self-
defense;

(iii) Each person's fear of physical harm, if any,
resulting from the other person's threatened use of
force against any person or resulting from the
other person's use or history of the use of force
against any person, and the reasonableness of that
fear;

(iv) The comparative severity of any injuries
suffered by the persons invelved in the alleged
offense.

(e)(i) A peace officer described in division (A)
of this section shall not require, as a prerequisite to
arresting or charging a person who has committed
the offense of domestic violence or the offense of
violating a protection order, that the victim of the
offense specifically consent to the filing of charges
against the person who has committed the offense
or sign a complaint against the person who has
committed the offense.

(i) ¥f a person is arrested for or charged with
committing the offense of domestic violence or the
offense of violating a protection order and if the
victim of the offense does not cooperate with the

© 2008 Thomson/West. No claim to original U.S. Govt. works.
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involved law enforcement or prosecuting
authorities in the prosecution of the offense or,
subsequent to the arrest or the filing of the
charges, informs the involved law enforcement or
prosecuting authorities that the victim does not
wish the prosecution of the offense to continue or
wishes to drop charges against the alleged
offender relative to the offense, the involved
prosecuting authorities, in determining whether to
continue with the prosecution of the offense or
whether to dismiss charges against the alleged
offender relative to the offense and
notwithstanding the victim's failure to cooperate or
the victim's wishes, shall consider all facts and
circumstances that are relevant to the offense,
including, but not limited to, the statements and
observations of the peace officers who responded
to the incident that resulted in the arrest or filing
of the charges and of all witnesses to that incident.

*65166 () In determining pursuant to divisions
(B)(3)a) to (g) of this section whether to arrest a
person pursuant to division (B)(1) of this section,
a peace officer described in division (A) of this
section shall not consider as a factor any possible
shortage of cell space at the detention facility to
which the person will be taken subsequent to the
person's arrest or any possibility that the person's
arrest might cause, contribute to, or exacerbate
overcrowding at that detention facility or at any
other detention facility,

(g) If a peace officer described i division (A)
of this section intends pursuant to divisions
(B)(3)(a) to (g) of this section to arrest a person
pursuant to division (B)(1) of this section and if
the officer is unable to do so because the person is
not present, the officer promptly shall seek a
warrant for the arrest of the person.

(h) If a peace officer described in division (A)
of this section responds to a report of an alleged
incident of the offense of domestic violence or an
alleged incident of the offense of violating a
protection order and if the circumstances of the
incident involved the use or threatened use of a
deadly weapon or any person involved in the
incident brandished a deadly weapon during or in
relation to the incident, the deadly weapon that
was used, threatened to be used, or brandished

constitutes contraband, and, to the extent possible,
the officer shall seize the deadly weapon as
contraband pursuant to Chapter 2981. of the
Revised Code. Upon the seizure of a deadly
weapon pursuant to division (B)(3)(h) of this
section, section 2981.12 of the Revised Code shall
apply regarding the treatment and disposition of
the deadly weapon. For purposes of that section,
the "underlying criminal offense” that was the
basis of the seizure of a deadly weapon under
division (B)}3)(h) of this section and to which the
deadly weapon had a relationship is any of the
following that is applicable:

(i) The alleged incident of the offense of
domestic violence or the alleged incident of the
offense of violating a protection order to which the
officer who seized the deadly weapon responded;

(i) Any offense that arose out of the same facts
and circumstances as the report of the alleged
incident of the offense of domestic violence or the
alleged incident of the offense of violating a
protection order to which the officer who seized
the deadly weapon responded.

(4) If, in the circumstances described in
divisions (B)(3)(a) to (g) of this section, a peace
officer described in division (A) of this section
arrests and detains a person pursuant to division
(B)X(1) of this section, or if, pursnant to division
{B)(3)(h) of this section, a peace officer described
in division (A) of this section seizes a deadly
weapon, the officer, to the extent described in and
in accordance with section 9.86 or 2744.03 of the
Revised Code, 18 immune in any civil action for
damages for imjury, death, or loss to person or
property that arises from or is related to the arrest
and detention or the seizure.

*$65167 (C) When there is reasonable ground to
believe that a violation of division (A)(1), (2), (3),
(@), or (5) of section 4506.15 or a violation of
section 4511.19 of the Revised Code has been
committed by a person operating a motor vehicle
subject to regulation by the public utilities
commission of Ohio under Title XLIX of the
Revised Code, a peace officer with authority to
enforce that provision of law may stop or detain
the person whom the officer has reasonable cause

© 2008 Thomson/West. No claim to original U.S. Govt, works.
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to believe was operating the motor vehicle in
violation of the division or section and, after
investigating the circumstances surrounding the
operation of the vehicle, may arrest and detain the
person.

(D) If a sheriff, deputy sheriff, marshal, deputy
marshal, municipal police officer, member of a
police force employed by a metropolitan housing
authority under division (D) of section 3735.31 of
the Revised Code, member of a police force
employed by a regional transit authority under
division (Y) of section 306.35 of the Revised
Code, special police officer employed by a port
authority under section 4582.04 or 4582.28 of the
Revised Code, special police officer employed by
a municipal corporation at a municipal airport or
other municipal air navigation facility described in
division (A) of this section, township constable,
police officer of a township or joint township
police district, state umiversity law enforcement
officer appointed under section 3345.04 of the
Revised Code, peace officer of the department of
patural resources, individual designated to perform
law enforcement duties under section 511.232,
1545.13, or 6101.75 of the Revised Code, the
house sergeant at arms if the house sergeant at
arms has amrest authority pursuant to division
(EX(1) of section 101.311 of the Revised Code, or
an assistant house sergeant at arms is authorized
by division (A) or (B) of this section to arrest and
detain, within the limits of the political
subdivision, metropolitan housing authority
housing project, regional transit authority facilities
or those areas of a municipal corporation that have
been agreed to by a regional transit authority and a
municipal corporation located within its territorial
jurisdiction, port authority, municipal airport or
other municipal air navigation facility, college, ot
university in which the officer is appointed,
employed, or elected or within the limits of the
territorial jurisdiction of the peace officer, a
person until a warrant can be obtained, the peace
officer, outside the limits of that territory, may
pursue, arrest, and detain that person until a
warrant can be obtained if all of the following

apply:

(1) The pursuit takes place without
unreasonable delay after the offense is committed,;

#65168 (2) The pursuit is initiated within the
limits of the political subdivision, metropolitan
housing authority housing project, regional transit
authority facilities or those areas of a municipal
corporation that have been agreed to by a regional
transit authority and a municipal corporation
located within its territorial jurisdiction, port
authority, municipal airport or other municipal air
navigation facility, college, or university in which
the peace officer is appointed, employed, or
glected or within the limits of the territorial
jurisdiction of the peace officer;

(3) The offense involved is a felony, a
misdemeanor of the first degree or a substantially
equivalent municipal ordinance, a misdemeanor of
the second degree or a substantially equivalent
municipal ordinance, or any offense for which
points are chargeable pursuant to section 4510.036
of the Revised Code.

(E) In addition to the authority granted under
division (A) or (B) of this section:

(1) A sheriff or deputy sheriff may arrest and
detain, until a warrant can be obtained, any person
found violating section 4503.11, 4503.21, or
4549.01, sections 4549.08 to 4549.12, section
4549.62, or Chapter 4511. or 4513. of the Revised
Code on the portion of any street or highway that
is located immediately adjacent to the boundaries
of the county in which the sheriff or deputy sheriff
is elected or appoinied.

(2) A member of the police force of a township
police district created under section 505.48 of the
Revised Code, a member of the police force of a
joint township police district created under section
505.481 of the Revised Code, or a township
constable appointed in accordance with section
509.01 of the Revised Code, who has received a
certificate from the Ohio peace officer training
commission under section 109.75 of the Revised
Code, may arrest and detain, until a warrant can be
obtained, any person found violating any section
or chapter of the Revised Code listed in division
(EX(1) of this section, other than sections 4513.33
and 4513.34 of the Revised Code, on the portion
of any street or highway that is located

© 2008 Thomson/West. No claim to original U.S. Govt. works.
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immediately adjacent to the boundaries of the
township police district or joint township police
district, in the case of a member of a township
police district or joint township police district
police force, or the unincorporated territory of the
township, in the case of a township constable.
However, if the population of the township that
created the township police district served by the
member's police force, or the townships that
created the joint township police district served by
the member's police force, or the township that is
served by the township constable, is sixty
thousand or less, the member of the township
police district or joint police district police force
or the township constable may not make an arrest
under division (E}2) of this section on a state
highway that is included as part of the interstate
system.

*65169 (3) A police officer or village marshal
appoinied, elected, or employed by a municipal
corporation may arrest and detain, until a warrant
can be obtained, any person found violating any
section or chapter of the Revised Code listed in
division (E)(1) of this section on the portion of
any street or highway that is located immediately
adjacent to the boundaries of the municipal
corporation in which the police officer or village
marshal is appointed, elected, or employed.

(4) A peace officer of the department of natural
resources or an individual designated to perform
law enforcement duties under section 511.232,
1545.13, or 6101.75 of the Revised Code may
arrest and detain, until a warrant can be obtained,
any person found violating any section or chapter
of the Revised Code listed in division (E)(1) of
this section, other than sections 4513.33 and
4513.34 of the Revised Code, on the portion of
any street or highway that is located immediately
adjacent to the boundaries of the lands and waters
that constitute the territorial jurisdiction of the
peace officer.

(F)(1) A department of mental health special
police officer or a department of mental
retardation and developmental disabilities special
police officer may arrest without a warrant and
detain until a warrant can be obiained any person
found committing on the premises of any

institution under the jurisdiction of the particular
department a misdemeanor under a law of the
state.

A department of mental health special police
officer or a department of mental retardation and
developmental disabilities special police officer
may arrest without a warrant and detain until a
warrant can be obtained any person who has been
hospitalized, institutionalized, or confined in an
institution under the jurisdiction of the particular
department pursuant to or under authority of
section 2945.37, 2945371, 294538, 2945.39,
2945.40, 2945.401, or 2945.402 of the Revised
Code and who is found committing on the
premises of any institution under the jurisdiction
of the particular department a violation of section
2921.34 of the Revised Code that involves an
escape from the premises of the institution.

(2)(a) If a department of mental health special
police officer or a department of mental
retardation and developmental disabilities special
police officer finds any person who has been
hospitalized, institutionalized, or confined in an
institution under the jurisdiction of the particular
department pursuant to or under authority of
section 2945.37, 2945371, 294538, 2945.39,
2945.40, 2945.401, or 2945.402 of the Revised
Code committing & violation of section 2921.34 of
the Revised Code that involves an escape from the
premises of the institution, or if there is reasonable
ground to believe that a violation of section
2921.34 of the Revised Code has been committed
that involves an escape from the premises of an
institution under the jurisdiction of the department
of mental health or the department of mental
retardation and developmental disabilitics and if a
department of mental health special police officer
or a department of mental retardation and
developmental disabilities special police officer
has reasonable cause to believe that a particular
person who has been hospitalized,
institutionalized, or confined in the institution
pursuant to or under authority of section 2945.37,
2945.371, 2945.38, 2945.39, 2945.40, 2945.401,
or 2945.402 of the Revised Code is guilty of the
violation, the special police officer, outside of the
premises of the institution, may pursue, arrest, and
detain that person for that violation of section

© 2008 Thomson/West. No claim to original U.S. Govt. works.



OH ST Sec. 2935.03, Arrest and detention until warrant can be obtained Page 7

2021.34 of the Revised Code, until a warrant can
be obtained, if both of the following apply:

*65170 (i) The pursuit takes place without
unreascnable delay after the offense is committed;

(i) The pursuit is initiated within the premises
of the institution from which the violation of
section 2921.34 of the Revised Code occurred.

(b) For purposes of division (F)(2)(a) of this
section, the execution of a written statement by the
administrator of the institution in which a persen
had been hospitalized, institutionalized, or
confined pursuant to or under authority of section
294537, 2945.371, 294538, 2945.39, 2945.40,
2945401, or 2945402 of the Revised Code
alleging that the person has escaped from the
premises of the institution in violation of section
292134 of the Revised Code constitutes
reasonable ground to believe that the violation was
committed and reasonable cause to believe that the
person alleged in the statement to have committed
the offense is guilty of the violation.

(G) As used in this section:

(1) A "department of mental health special
police officer" means a special police officer of
the department of mental health designated under
section 5119.14 of the Revised Code who is
certified by the Ohio peace officer training
commission under section 109.77 of the Revised
Code as having successfully completed an
approved peace officer basic training program.

(2) A "department of mental retardation and
developmental disabilities special police officer”
means a special police officer of the department of
mental retardation and developmental disabilities
designated under section 5123.13 of the Revised
Code who is certified by the Ohio peace officer
training council under section 109.77 of the
Revised Code as having successfully completed an
approved peace officer basic training program.

*65171 (3) "Deadly weapon”" has the same
meaning as in section 2923.11 of the Revised
Code.

(4) "Family or household member" has the same
meaning as in section 2919.25 of the Revised
Code.

(5) "Street" or "highway" has the same meaning
as in section 4511.01 of the Revised Code.

(6) "Interstate system" has the same meaning as
in section 5516.01 of the Revised Code.

(7) "Peace officer of the department of natural
resources” means an employee of the department
of natural resources who is a natural resources law
enforcement staff officer designated purswant to
section 1501.013 of the Revised Code, a forest
officer designated pursuant to section 1503.29 of
the Revised Code, a preserve officer designated
pursuant to section 1517.10 of the Revised Code,
a wildlife officer designated pursuant fo section
1531.13 of the Revised Code, a park officer
designated pursuant to section 1541.10 of the
Revised Code, or a state watercraft officer
designated pursuant to section 1547.521 of the
Revised Code.

(8) "Portion of any street or highway" means all
lanes of the street or highway irrespective of
direction of travel, including designated turn
lanes, and any berm, median, or shoulder.

(2007 H 119, eff: 9-29-07; 2006 H 241, gff. 7-1-07, 2005 H
68, eff 6-29-05; 2002 H 675, § 1.04, off 1-1-04; 2002 H
675, § 1.01, gff. 3-14-03; 2002 H 545, eff- 3-19-03; 2002 8
123, eff. 1-1-04; 2000 § 317, eff. 3-22-01; 2000 S 137, eff.
5-17-00; 1998 § 187, efft 3-18-99; 1997 5 1, eff- 10-21-97;
1996 § 285, off 7-1-97; 1996 H 670, eff. 12-2-96; 1996 §
2609, eff. 7-1-96;, 1995 8 2, off 7-1-96; 1994 H 3335, eff.
12-9-94; 1994 § 82, efft 5-4-94; 1993 H 42, efft 2-9-94;
1992 H 336; 1991 H 77, 1990 H 669, H 88; 1988 H 708, §

1)

<General Materials (GM) - References,
Annotations, or Tables>
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*100665 R.C. § 4513.03

BALDWIN'S OHIO REVISED
CODE ANNOTATED
TITLE XLV. MOTOR

VEHICLES--AERONAUTICS--

WATERCRAFT
CHAPTER 4513. TRAFFIC
LAWS--EQUIPMENT; LOADS
LIGHTS

Current through 2008 File 50 of the 127th
G4 (2007-2008), apv. by 2/21/08, and filed
with the Secretary of State by 2/21/08.

4513.03 Lighted lights required

(A) Every vehicle upon a street or highway
within this state during the time from sunset to
sunrise, and at any other time when there are
unfavorable atmospheric conditions or when there
is not sufficient natural light to render discernible
persons, vehicles, and substantial objects on the
highway at a distance of one thousand feet ahead,
shall display lighted lights and illuminating
devices as required by sections 4513.04 to
4513.37 of the Revised Code, for different classes
of vehicles; except that every motorized bicycle
shall display at such times lighted lights meeting

Pagel

the rules adopted by the director of public safety
under section 4511.521 of the Revised Code. No
motor vehicle, during such times, shall be
operated upon a street or highway within this state
using only parking lights as illumination.

Whenever in such sections a requirement is
declared as to the distance from which certain
lamps and devices shall render objects visible, or
within which such lamps or devices shall be
visible, such distance shall be measured upon a
straight level unlighted highway under normal
atmospheric  conditions unless a different
condition is expressly stated.

Whenever in such sections a requirement is
declared as to the mounted height of lights or
devices, it shall mean from the center of such light
or device to the level ground upon which the
vehicle stands. ‘

(B) Whoever violates this section shall be
punished as provided in section 4513.99 of the
Revised Code.

(2002 § 123, eff. 1-1-04; 2000 H 484, off 10-5-00; 1992 §
98, efft [1-12-92; 1977 § 100; 1973 H 272; 129 v 232
1953 H1; GC6307-76)

<General Materials (GM) - References,
Annotations, or Tables>

© 2008 Thomson/West. No claim to original U.S. Govt. works.
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*100674 R.C. § 4513.04

BALDWIN'S OHIO REVISED
CODE ANNOTATED
TITLE XLV, MOTOR

VEHICLES-AERONAUTICS--

WATERCRAFT
CHAPTER 4513. TRAFFIC
LAWS--EQUIPMENT; LOADS
LIGHTS

Current through 2008 File 50 of the 127th
GA (2007-2008), apv. by 2/21/08, and filed
with the Secretary of State by 2/21/08.

4513.04 Headlights

(A) Every motor vehicle, other than a
motorcycle, and every trackless trolley shall be
equipped with at least two headlights with at least
one near each side of the front of the motor
vehicle or trackless trolley.

Every motorcycle shall be equipped with at
least one and not more than two headlights.

(B) Whoever violates this section shall be
punished as provided in section 4513.99 of the
Revised Code.

(2002 § 123, eff 1-1-04; 1953 H I, ¢ff 10-1-33; GC
6307-77)

<General Materials (GM) - References,
Annotations, or Tables>

HISTORICAL NOTES

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY
NOTES

Page 1
Pre-1953 H 1 Amendments: 119 v 766, § 77
REFERENCES
CROSS REFERENCES

Penalty: 4513.99(C)

ORIO ADMINISTRATIVE CODE
REFERENCES

Accessory lamps, OAC 4501-15-09

RESEARCH REFERENCES

Encyclopedias

OH Jur. 3d Automobiles & Other Vehicles § 390,
Generally; Time for Display.

OH Jur. 3d Automobiles & Other Vehicles § 391,
Headlights.

OH Jur. 3d Criminal Law § 1683, Other Violations.
ANNOTATIONS
NOTES OF DECISIONS

Constitutional issues 2
Negligence 1
Strict liability 3

1. Negligence

Erroncous admission of opinion of investigating officer
that plaintiff's failure to vield at intersection was sole factor
contributing to, or causing accident, did not require reversal
of verdict in favor of defendant in automobile negligence
case; there was still sufficient competent evidence upon
which jury could have based its verdict in favor of defendant,
particularly testimony of eyewitness who was driving just
behind plaintiff immediately prior to accident that she
noticed defendant's car approaching intersection at some
distance, despite fact that car had only one headlight  Petti
v. Perna (Hancock 1993) 86 Qhio App.3d 508, 621 N.E.2d
580. Appeal And Error €=1050.1(12)

© 2008 Thomson/West. No claim to original U.S. Govt. works.
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*100706 R.C. § 4513.14

BALDWIN'S OHIO REVISED
CODE ANNOTATED
TITLE XLY. MOTOR

VEHICLES--AERONAUTICS--
WATERCRAFT
CHAPTER 4513. TRAFFIC
LAWS--EQUIPMENT; LOADS
LIGHTS

Current through 2008 File 50 of the 127th
GA (2007-2008), apv. by 2/21/08, and filed
with the Secretary of State by 2/21/08.

4513.14 Two lights displayed

(A) At all times mentioned in section 4513.03
of the Revised Code at least two lighted lights
shall be displayed, one near each side of the front
of every motor vehicle and trackless trolley, except
when such vehicle or trackless trolley is parked
subject to the regulations governing lights on
parked vehicles and trackless trolleys.

The director of public safety shall prescribe and
promulgate regulations relating to the design and
use of such lights and such regulations shall be in
accordance with currently recognized standards.

(B) Whoever violates this section shall be
punished as provided in section 4513.99 of the
Revised Code.

Page 1

(2002 § 123, eff. 1-1-04; {992 S 98, efft 11-12-92; 128 v
J180; 1953 H I, GC 6307-87)

<General Materials (GM) - References,
Annotations, or Tables>

HISTORICAL NOTES

HISTORICAIL AND STATUTORY
NOTES

Pre-1953 H 1 Amendments: 119 v 766, § 87
REFERENCES
CROSS REFERENCES
Penalty; 4513.99(C)

OHIO ADMINISTRATIVE CODE
REFERENCES

Motor vehicle equipment standards for lighting, OAC
4501:2-1-09

RESEARCH REFERENCES

Encyclopedias

OH Jur. 3d Automobiles & Other Vehicles § 391,
Headlights.

OH Jur, 3d Criminal Law § 1683, Other Violations.
ANNOTATIONS
NOTES OF DECISIONS

Constitutional issues 1

© 2008 Thomson/West. No claim to original U.S, Govt. works.
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*100708 R.C. § 4513.15

BALDWIN'S OHIO REVISED
CODE ANNOTATED
TITLE X1LV. MOTOR

VEHICLES-AERONAUTICS--

WATERCRAFT
CHAPTER 4513. TRAFFIC
LAWS--EQUIPMENT; LOADS
LIGHTS

Current through 2008 File 50 of the 127th
GA (2007-2008), apv. by 2/21/08, and filed
with the Secretary of State by 2/21/08.

4513.15 Headlights required

(A) Whenever a motor vehicle is being
operated on a roadway or shoulder adjacent
thereto during the times specified in section
4513.03 of the Revised Code, the driver shall use
a distribution of light, or composite beam, directed
high enough and of sufficient intensity to reveal
persons, vehicles, and substantial objects at a safe
distance in advance of the vehicle, subject to the
following requirements;

(1) Whenever the driver of a vehicle approaches
an oncoming vehicle, such driver shall use a
distribution of light, or composite beam, so aimed
that the glaring rays are not projected into the eyes
of the oncoming driver.

(2) Every new motor vehicle registered in this

Page 1

state, which has multiple-beam road lighting
equipment shall be equipped with a beam
indicator, which shall be lighted whenever the
uppermost distribution of light from the headlights
is in use, and shall not otherwise be lighted. Said
indicator shall be so designed and located that,
when lighted, it will be readily visible without
glare to the driver of the vehicle.

(B) Whoever violates this section shall be
punished as provided in section 4513.99 of the
Revised Code.

(2002 S 123, efft 1-1-04; 1953 H 1. eff, 10-1-33; GC
6307-88)

<General Materials (GM) - References,
Annotations, or Tables>

HISTORICAL NOTES

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY
NOTES

Pre-1953 H 1 Amendments: 119 v 766, § 88
REFERENCES
CROSS REFERENCES

Penalty: 4513.99(C)

OHIO ADMINISTRATIVE CODE
REFERENCES

Motor vehicle equipment standards for lighting, OAC
4501:2-1-09
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF QHIO

COLUMBUS, OHIQ
07-2310

‘STATE OF OHIO, Case No. 2007
Plaintiff-Appellant On Appezl from the
_ Court of Appeals for Stark
-V~ County, Fifth Appelate District

Case No. 2007-CA-00139

ADAM DAVID JONES,

Defendant-Appellee,

NOTICE OF APPEAL OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT,
THE STATE OF OHIO

JOHN D. FEREERO STEVEN A. REISCH
PROSECUTING ATTORNEY, Ohio Sup. Ct, Reg. No. 0068310
STARK COUNTY, OHIO Stark County Public Defender’s Office
Z00 W, Tuscaravas Street, N.W,
Suite 200
By: RONALD MARK CALDWELL Canton, Ohiec 44702
Ohio Sup. Ct. Reg. No. 0030663 (330) 451-7200
Assistant Prosecuting Attorney '
Appellate Division Counsel for Defendant-Appellee

110 Central Plaza Seuth, Suite 510
Canton, Ohio  44702-1413
{330) 451-7897

FAX: (330) 451-7965

FILED
DEC 13 2007

CLERKQF COURT
SUPREME COURT OF OHID

Counsel for Plaintiff-Appellant
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NOTICE OF APPEAL OF APPELLANT STATE OF OHIO
The State of Ohio, hereby gives notice of appeal to the Supreme Court of Ohio from the
judgment of the Court of Appeals for Stark County, Fifth Appellate District, entered in the case
of State of Ohio v. Adam David Jones, Court of Appeals Case No. 2007-CA-00139, on October

29,2007,
This case raises a substantial constitutional question and is one of public or great general

interest.

Respectiully submitied,
JOHN D. FERRERO
STARK COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY.

BY: %?mtﬂ m g?ﬂémz
RONALD MARK CATDWELL

‘Ohio Sup. Ct. Reg. No, 0030663
Assistant Prosecuting Attermcy
Appellate Division
110 Central Plaza South, Suite 510
Canton, Chio  44702-1413
(330} 451-7897

FAX: (330)451-7965

E-mail: RMCzldwe@co.stark.oh.us

Counsel for Plainiiff-Appellant
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PROOF OF SERVICE

A copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF APPEAL was sent by ordinary U.S. mail this 12th

day of December, 2007, to STEVEN A. REISCH, Stark Counly Public Defender, 200 West

Tuscarawas Street, Suite 200, Canton, Chio 44702,
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NALD MARK CALDWELL
Ohio Sup. Ct. Reg. No. 0036663
Assistant Prosecuting Attorney
Appeliate Division

110 Central Plaza South, Suite 510
Canton, Chio 44702-1413

(330) 451-7897

(330) 451-7965

Counsel] for Plaintiff-Appellant
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COURT OF APPEALS
STARK COUNTY, OHIO
FIFTH APPELLATE DISTRICT

ETATE OF GHIO
Flaintiff-Appelles

-vS-

ADAM DAVID JONES

Defendant-Appellant
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JUDGMENT:
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For Plalntiff-Appeliee

JOHN O, FERRERG
FROSECUTING ATTORNEY
RONALD MARK CALDWELL
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Raversed and Remandedr

For Defendant-Appeliant
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Stark County, Case No. 2007 CA 00138

Wise, J.

{1} Defendant-appelant Adam David Jonss appeais his sentence and
conviction entered in the Stark County Court of Common Pleas on one count of
Carrying a Concealed Weapon, a felony of the fourth degree, and one count of Un!awful
Possession of a Dangerous Ordnance, a felony of the f{ifth degree.

{12} Plaintif-appeilee is the State of Ohio.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

{73} On September 27, 200€, an East Canton Police Officer Milcheil
Hershberger responded to a call regarding an automobile accident. (Supp. T. at 9).
When he arrived at tha {ocation of the accident, 113 East Nassau Street in East Canton,
neither vehicle was stilt at the scsne, Officer Hershbarger talked with 2 wilpess wha
werked at the nearby gas station, and was told that a small red Ford Ranger had struck
the rear end of a full-size van. (Supp. T. at 10). The driver of the van got out and
exchanged words with the driver of the Ford Ranger. (Supp. 7. at 18). Te driver of the
van then got hack into his vehicle, made a U-tum, and left the scene. (Supp. T. at 10).
The Ford Ranger alsc left the scens, procssaing westbound on Nassau Street. (Supp.
T. at 10)

{14} At the scene the officer found some debris which appeared to te from a
Ford Ranger. {Supp. T. at 11}. Approximatety ten minutes later, after the officer had left
the scene and had returned to the Town Hall where he was a!sa'bamfﬁng, the officer
received a dispatch advising that a red Ford Ranger with & smashed front and
headlights cut was "hiding" in the area of the Old Coyote Restaurant, whizh is located in

Osnaburg Township approximately one-half miie from East Canton. (Supa, T. at 12-13).

JUN-BS-28688 13:37 9= ==
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Stark County, Case No. 2007 CA 00138 3

The officer procseded to the Old Coyote Restaurant; however there was no sign of the
vehicle as reportad. {Supp. T. at 12-13, 20, 28-27). The officer continuec to search for
the vehicle, searching a nearby trailer park without success. (Supp. T, at 28). The officar
next traveled westbound approximately ancther one-half mile on "West Nassau
Street/Lincolnway out to Trump Road to check the businesses located {rere, and then
returned “doing a sweep back towards town.” (Supp. T. at 13).

{15} The Officer stopped ta check & car wash parking lot, in Canton Township,
when another moiorist pulled up to him and complained of a vehicle traveling
wastbound, which was driving without headlights, and which had neszrly struck his
vehicle. {Supp. T. at 14-15, 20). The Officer drove back east until he encountered a
Ford Ranger pick-up truck. (Supp. T. at 15}. The Cfiicer then fumed around and inittated
a traffic stop. (Supp. T. at 15). The front end of the truck was damaged and the
headlights were not on. (Supp. T. at 16). Adam Jonss was driving the vehicle and
Shawn Skroplis was the only passenger. (Supp. T. at 17-18).

{163 Aimost immediateiy- following the appreoach and encounter with the
occupants of the vehicle, both individuals indicated that there were guns -n the vehicle,
Both Appeflant Adam David Jones and his passenger, Sﬁawn Michael Skropits, were
subgequently arrested.

{17} On November 2, 2006, Appeltant Adam Jones and his passenger Shawn
Skronits were each indicted on one count of Carrying a Concealed Weapon, a fourth
degree felany, znd one count of Unlawful Possession of a Dangerous Qrdnance, a fifth

degree felony. The indictments also charged that each were sither the prircipal offender

JUN~-BS-2E888 13138 95
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Stark County, Case No. 2007 CA 00138

or they aided and abeited each cther. The men were charged wif having four
handguns and a sawed-off shotgun, along with ammunition for the gurs, Ir the vericia.

{18} On January 22, 2007, Appellant Adamm Jones filed his Mation fo Dismiss
and/or Suppregs.

{19} On January 30, 2007, the trial court hetd a Supprassion Hearing.

{§110} At said Suppression hearing, the Officer stated that he was not in "hot
pursuit" of any vehicle during this investigation {(Supp. T. at 25, 32). He also stated that
he did not contact another police department for assistance before he initiated the traffic
stop. (Supp. T. at 20-30). The Officer stated that he was investigating a "hit skip
accident.” (Supp. T. at 20), Later he stated that he suspecied the suspect of iittering by
lsaving part of the vehicls in the readway. (Supp. T. at 41). Finaily, the Officer admitted
that, according to the only witness ta ths accident, the crivers of the two wshicles spoke
priefly and the van lefl the scene first. (Supp. T. at 41).

{711} By Judgment Entry filed February 2, 2007, the triai court overiuled
Appellant's Motion to Suppress.

{12} After the suppression motion was cverruled, Appellant Jones changed his
former plea of not guilty to a plea of no contest to the charges in the indictment. Based
upon the eviderce presented at the suppression hearing, the trial court found Appellant
Jones guilty as charged and ordered a probation investigation repct Upon the
completion of this report, the trial court imposed a community control sanctior for a
pericd of two years.

{113} Appellant Jones thereafter filed the instant appeai to challeﬁgje the coun's

suppression culing, assigning the following error for review:

JUN-89-2888 132134 g5 P.B3
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Stark County, Case Mo. 2007 CA 00138

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

{§14} “t. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING THE APPELLANT'S
MOTION TO SUPPRESS.”

R

{115} In his sole assignment of error, Appellant argues that the palice had
insufficient reasonable suspicion or probable cause to support their initial stop of his
vahigle. We agree. _

{1116} Revised Code §2835.03(A)(1) gaverns a police officer's jurisdiction to
arrest. It is undisputed in this case that the arresting officer was outside of his territorial
jurisdiction when ha made the arrest as the subject vehicle was located uiside of the
East Canton border. When determining whether an extraterrifarial stop triggers the
exclusionary rule, a court must defermine, under the totality of the croumstances,
whether the statutery violaticn rises to the level of a constitutional vialation, i.e., whether
the puilce officer had reasonable susplcion to stop and sufficlent probable cause to
a‘rrest appe{jant. State v. Werdeman, 34 Ohio S1.3d 541, 764 N.E.2d §37 2002-Ohio-
1484,

{117} If the tatality of the facts and circumstances demonstrate tha: police had a2
reasenable, articulable suspicion of criminal conduct sufficient o warrant the
invgs‘tigative stop and detentlon, and probable cause to arrest, then while that
extraterritorial seizure may viclate R.C. §2935.03, It does not rise to the level of a
constitutional violation requiring suporassion of all evidence derivad from the stop. id.

{118} The Fourth Amendment siates that "[t]he right of the peopie 1o be secura

in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, avainst unreasonable searches and

JUN~R9-2008 13:38 5%
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seizuresl. shall not be violated * * *.” The amendment has been extendes o seizures of
passengers in traffic stops under the rationale that the amendment "protects psople, not
places.” Kaiz v. Unfted Slates (1967), 389 U.S. 347, 351, 88 S.Ct. 507, "9 L.Ed.2d 576.
Using the reasonableness requirement of the amendment, the United Slates Supreme
Gourt has held that & seizure must be reasonable both at its inception and throughout
its duration. Ses Terry v. Chio {1988), 352 U.S. ¢, 20, 88 5.Ct. 1868, 20 |..Ed.2d 889.

{119} An investigatory stop Is permissible If a law enforcement officer has a
reasonable suspicion, based on specific and articulable facts, that the individual to be
stcpped may be involved in criminal activity. Tery v. Chic (1868), 392 U.S. 1, 21-22, 88
S.CL 1888, When determining whether or not an 'nvestigative traffic sicp 13 supperted
by a reasonable, articulable suspicion cf criminal activity, the stop must be viewed n
light of the totality of circumstances surrounding the stop. State v. Bobé (1988). 37 Chio
5t.3d 177, 524 N.E.2d 489, paragraph one of the syilabus, cert, denied (1988), 458 .5,
910, 108 S.Ct. 264.

{f20) Upon review of the facis in the case sub judics, we do not find that the
officer had reasonable suspiclon, based on specific and articujanie facts, that the driver
of the vehicle or his passenger may have been involved in criminal activity. The
dispatch call received by Officer Hershberger wés for a traffic accident. Upon drfvi.ﬁg ta
thse scene and finding that the vehicles ware no longsr there, he inferviswved a witnass
who informad him that the twe drivers Involved in the accident spoke to ore another and
that both left the scene thereafter. Based on this information, Officer Hershberger had
no reason to believe that a ¢rime had occurred. Even after he recefved the second call

about the red Ford Ranger “hiding” near the Coyote Restaurant, which was cutside his

a5x
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jurisdiction, he still had no reason to belleve ihat a crime had been committed. He did
not drive out of his jurisdiction In "hot pursuit”. We further find that the officer did not
have jurisdiction to pull over the venicls In Question based on the complaint he recsived
whiie outside of his jurisdiction, from another motorist, that a vehicle driving without its
headlights on had almost hit him.

{9121} Accordingly, we find the officer did not have a reasonable suspicion of
criminal activity sufficient 1o justify the extra-territorlal stop in the case sub judice,

{122} We therefore find that Officer Hershberger's action in making an
exiratetritorial stop of the vahicle in tha case sub judice viclaies the reasonableness
requirement of the Feurth Amendment. Officer Snow's statutory violatics in this casze
therefore requires suppression of z2ll evidence flowing from the stop.

19123 Accordingly, we heraby sustain Appellant's as_signment' of arior.

{924} For ihe foregoing reasons, the judgment of the Court of Commaon Pleas of

Stark County, Ohic, is reversed and this matter is remanded for furthe- proceedings

‘consistent with the iaw and this opinion,

By: Wise, J.
Farmer, F. J., concurs,
Edwards, J., dissenis.
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EDWARDS, J., DISSENTING OPINION

{923) | respectfully dissent from the majority's analysis and «isposition of
apbellant's sole asslgnment of errcr,

{026} The majarily, in the case sub judice, finds that the officer did not have =z
reasonable suspicion of criminal activity sufficient fo justify the extra-territorial stop in
the case sub judice. The malority further finds that the officer's action in stopping the
vehicle viciated the reasonablenass requirement of the Fourth Amendmert,

{927} The Ohic Suprems Court, in the syllabus of State v. Waeidaimarn, 94 Ohio
5t,3d 501, 2002-Chio-1484, 764 N.E.2d 9687, held as follows:

{928) "Where a law enforcement officer, acting outside the officer's statutory
territorial jurisdiction, stops ‘and detaing a moterist for an offense cemmitted and
observed outside the officer’s jurisdiction, the seizure of the motorist by the officer is not
unreasonable per se under the Fourth Amendment. Therefore, the officer's statutory
violation does not reguire suppression of all evidence flowing from the stop ™

{729} At tha suppression hearing in this matter, Officer Hershberger testifiad that
he pulled over the vehicie because it had no headlights on. Supp. T. at 4C. There also
was iestimony adduced at the hearing that it was dark outside at that time.

{30} Based on Weideman, supra., | would find that the stop of the vehicie by
tha officer in this matter was nct unreasonatle per se under the Fourth Ami=ndment and
that the officer's statutory violation does not require suppression of all evidence lowing
fram the stop. As noted by appellee, the officer perscnally observing appellant driving
in the d._a\rk without hezdlights and therefore had raas;onable suspicion to make the

fraffic stop.

a5
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{31} Based on the foregoing, | would find that the trial court did not err in

1)

aenying the Motion te Suppress in this case.

. -d %{5% 4

Judga Julie A. Edwards
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Wise, J.

{1} Defendant-appellant Shawn Skropits appeals nis sentence and conviction
entered In the Stark County Court of Common Pleas on one count of Carrying a
Concealed Weapon, a felony of the fourth degree, and one coun: of Unlawful
Possession of a Dangerous Ordnance, a felony of the fifth degree.

{12} Plaintiff-appelies is tha State of Ohlo.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

On September 27, 2006, an East Canton Police Officer Mitchel! Hershbarger
responded to a call regarding an automobile accident. (Supp. T. at 9), Whan he arrivec
at the iocation of tha accident, 113 East Nassau Street in East Cantan, neither vehicle
was stiil at the scene. Officer Hershberger taﬂ(ed with a witness who worked &t the
nearby gas station, anc was told that a small red Ford Ranger had siruck the rear end
of a fuli-size van, (Supp. T. at 10). The driver of the van got out and exchanged words
with tha driver of the Ford Ranger. (Supp. T. al 10}. The driver of the van then got back
into his vehicle, made a U<urn, and left the scene. (Supp. T. at 10). The f-ord Ranger
alsa left the scene, praceeding westbound on Nassau Street. (Supp. T. al 19)

{Y3} At the scene the officer found some dabris which appeared to be from a
Ford Ranger, (Supp. T. at 11). Approximately ten minutes later, after the officer had left
the scene ang had refurned to the Town Hall where he was also bailiffing, ihe officer
received a dispatch advising that a red Ford Ranger with a smashed front and
headlighfs out was "hiding” In the area of the Old Coyote Restaurant, which is located in
Osnaburg Township approximataly one-half mile from Eaat Canton. (Supp. 7. at 12-13).

The officer proceeded to the Old Covota Restaurant, however there was n¢ sign of the

T iM—=FO=-"008 1= 4R L
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Yehicla as reported. (Supp. T. at 12-13, 20, 26-27). The officer confinuad fo search for
the vahicle, searching a.nearby irailer park without success. (Supp. T. at £8). The officer
next traveled westbound approximately another cne-half mile on Mest Nassau
Street/Lincolnway out to Trump Road to check the businesses lacated there, and then
returned "doing a sweep back towards town." (Supp. T. at 13).

{§4} The Officer stopped to check a car wash parking lot, in Canton Township,
when another motorist pulled up to him and complained of & vehicle traveling
westbound, which'was driving without headlights, and which had nearly struck his
venicle, (Supp. T. at 14-15, 20). The Officer drove back east until he encountered a
Ford Ranger plek-up truck, {Supp. T. at 15). The Officer then turned arount! and itiated
z traffic stoo. (Supp. T. at 15). The front end of the truck was damaged and the
headiights were not on. {Supp. T. at 15). Adam Jones was driving the: vehicle and
Shawn Skropits was the only passenger. (Supp. T. at 17-18).

{15) Almast immediately following the approach and encounier with the
occupants af the vehicle, both individuals indicated that there were guns I the vehicle,
Both Shawn Skropits and Adam Jonas were subsequenily arrested.

{16} On November 2, 2008, Appeallants Shawn Skropits and Adam Jones were
each indicted on one count of Canrying a Concealed Weapon, a fourth degree faiony.
and one count of Unlawful Possesslon of 2 Dangsrous Crdnance, a fifth degree feicny.
The indictments also charged that each were either the principal offendef or.they aided
and abeited sach other. The men were charged with having four hancguns and a

sawed-off shotgun, afong with ammunition for the guns, in the vehicle.

JUN-B9-2808 13:48
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{17r  On Jenuary 17, 2007, Appellant Shawn Skropits filed a Molion fo Dismiss

andfor Suppress.

{8} ©On January 22, 2007, Adam Jones filed his Motion to Llismiss and/or
Suppress.

{79} On January 30, 2007, the trlai court held a Suppression Hearing.

{Y10) At sald Suppression hearing, the Cfficer stated that he was not in "hot
pursuit” of any vehicle during this investigation (Supp. T. at 25, 32). He also stated that
he did not contact another police departmenffér agsistance tefore he initizted the {raffic
stop. (Supp. T. at 28-30). The Officer siated that he was investigating a "hit skip
accident.” (Supp. T. at 20). Later he stated that he suspecied the suspec” of littering by
leaving part of the vehicle in the rcadway. (Supp. T. at 41). Finally, the O+ficer admitted
that, according 1o the only witness fo the accident, the drivers of the two vehicles spoke
briefly and the van left the scena first. (Supp. T. at 41).

{111} By Judgment Entry flled February 2, 2007, the frlal court cverruled both
Motions to Suppress.

{f112} After the suppression motions were overtuled, Appellant Skropits changed
his former plea of not guilly to a plea of no contest to the charges in tre indictment.
Based vpon the evidence prasented at the suppression hearing, the trizl court found
Appsliant Skropits guilty as charged and ordered a probation investigation report. Upon
the completion of this repont, the irial court imposed a community control sanction for 3
reriod of wo years,

{113} Appelant Skropits thereafler filad the insiant appeal to chalienge the

court's suppression ruling, assigning the folawing error for review;

95
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ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

{g14} ". THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING THE APPELLANT'S

MOTION TO SUPPRESS.”
| 1.

{915} In his sole assignment of errcr, Appellant argues that the police had
insyfficient reasonable suspicion or probable cause to suppert their initial stop of the
vehicle in which he was a passenger. We agree.

{116) Revised Cede §2935.03(A)(1) govems a police cofficer’s wurisdiction tg
arrest. It is undisputed in this case that the arresting officer was outside of his territorial
jurisdiction when he made the arrest as the subject vehicle was localed outside of the
East Canton border. When determining whether an extraterritorial stop triggers the
exclusionary rule, a court must detsimine, under the fotality of the circumstances,
whether the statutory violation rises to the level of a conslﬂtu‘tio‘nat viglation ie., whether
the police officer had reasonable susplcion to stop and sufficient probable cause fo
arrest appellant. State v. Weideman, 94 Chia St3d 501, 7684 N.E.2d 9587, 2002-Chio-
1484,

{747} 'f the totality of the facts _and cireumsiances demanstrate that police had a
reasonable, articulable suspicion of criminal conduct sufficlent fo warrent the
investigative stop and delenffon, and probable cause lo arrest, then while that
extraterritonal seizure may viqla’re R.C. §2935.03, it does not rise to the level of a
constituional violation reguiring suppression of ail evidence derivad from the step. Id.

{118} The Fourth Amendment states that "[Hhe right of the peoplz to be secure

In their persons, houses, pepers, and effects, against unreasonabie searches and

JUN—PS—Z20RpE 13:41 Q5% P.22
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| seizures, shall not be violated * = *.* The amendment has bean extandad 1o seizures of
passengers in fraffic stops under the ratlonale that the amendment ‘nrotects people, not
places.” Kafz v. Unffed States (1967}, 388 U.S. 347, 351, 88 8.Ct. 507, * § L.Ed.2d 5786.
Using the reasonableness requirement of the amendment, the United States Supreme
Court has held that a seizure must be raasonabie both at ifs inception and throughout
its duration. See Terry v. Ohio (1968), 392 U.S. 1, 20, 88 $.Ct. 1858, 20 1..Ed.2d 889.

'{'519} An investigatory stop is permissible if a taw enforcement officer has a
reasonable suspicion, based on spscific and articulable facts, that the individual w0 be
stopped may be involved in criminal activity. Temy v. Ohio (1968), 392 U.S. 1, 21-22, 88
S.Ct. 1868. When determining whether er net an investigative traffic step is supperted
by a reasonable, articulable susplcion of criminal activity, the stop must ve viewed in
light of the totality of circumslances surrcunding the stop. Sfafe v. Bebe (1988), 37 Ohio
51.3d 177, 524 N.E.2d 488, paragraph one of the syllabus, cert, denled (1588), 488 U.&.
910, 109 S.CL. 264.

{9120} Chio Courts have held that a passenger as well as the drivar of a vehicle
has standing to challenge the fawfulness of a trafiic stop. Sfate v. Amburgy {1997),
122 Ohio App.3d 277, 282-83. The United States Supreme Court recenily reached the
same conclusion and found that "a] traffic stop necessarily curtails the travel 2
paasenger has chosen just as much as it ﬁafts the driver ... and the police activity that
normally amounts to intrusion on the privacy and personal secutity dees not normally
{(and dees not here) distinguish between passenger and driver.” Brendlir- v. California

(2007), 127 S.Ct. 24C0, 16B L.E.2d 132.

JuN-B9-2a88 13:41 95
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{9121} Upon review cf the facts in ihe case sub judice, we do nct find that tha
officer had reasonable suspicion, based on speciﬁc and articuiabie facts, that the driver
of the vehicle or his passenger may have been involved in crimlnal activity. The
dispatch call received by Officer Hershberger was for a fraffic accident. L pon driving to
the scene and finding that the vehicles were no longer there, he interviewed a witness
wha informed him that the two drivars invalved in the accident spoks to onz another ang
that both left the scene thereaftar. Based on this information, Officer Hershberger had

ro reason to beliave that a crime had occurred. Even after he received the second cali

sbout the red Ford Ranger “hiding” near the Coycte Restaurant, which was oulside his
jurisdiction, he still had no reasan to believe that a crime had besn commitied. He did
net drive out of his jurisdiction In “hot pursuit”. Wa further find that the officer did not
have Jurisdiction to pull over the vehicle in question based on the complairt he recsived
while outsida of his jurisdiction, from anather motorist, that a vehicle driving without its
headlights on had almost hit him.
{922} Accerdingly, we find the officer did not have a reasonable suspicion of
criminal activity sufficient to justify the extra-territorial stop in the case sub judice.
{Y123} We therefore find that Officer Hershbergers action in making an
extraterritorial stop of the vehicle In the case sub jydice violates the reasonatleness
requirement of the Fourth Amendment Officer Snow's statutory viciation in this cass
therefore requires suppression cf all evidence flowing from tha stop.

{24} Accordingly, we hereby sustaln Appellant's assignment of errcr.

TUN-BS-2888 13:41 YA F.24
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{925} Forthe foregoing reasons, the judgment of the Count of Common Pleas of

Stark County, Ohio, is reversed and this matter is remanded for further proceadings

cansisient with the 'aw and this opinion.

By: Wise, J.
Farmear, P. J.. concurs.

Edwards, J., dissents.
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EDWARDS, J., DISSENTING OPINION

26} | respectiully dissent from the majority’s analysis and disposition of
appellant's sole assignment of error.

{127} The magjority, In the case sub judice, finds that the officer did not have a
reasonable suspicion of criminal activity sufficient o justity the extra-ter torial stop in
the case sub judice. The majorily further finds that the officer's action in stopping the
vehicle violated the reasonableness requirement of the Fourth Amendment

{928} The Onio Supreme Court, in the syllabus of Stste v. Waiderian, 94 Ohio
$1.3d 501, 20€2-Chio-1484, 764 N.E.2d 997, held as follows;

{929} “Where a law enforcement officer, acting outside the officer's statutory
territorial jurisdiction, stops and detains a motorist for an offense committad and
observed outside the officer's jurisdiction, the seizure of the motorist by the oFicer is not
unreasonable per se under the Fourth Amendment. Therefcre, the officer's statutory
viglation dees not require supﬁressiom of all evidance flowing from the stop.’

_ {130} Al the suppression hearing in this matter, Officer Hershberger testified that
he pulled over the vehicls because it had no headlights on. Supp. T. at 40 There also
was testimony adduced af the hearing that it was dark outside at that time.

{931} Based on Weideman, supra., | would find that the stop of the vehicle by
the officer in this matter was not unreascnable per se under the Fourth Amendment and
that the officer’s statutery viclation does not require suppression of all evidence flowing
from the stop. As ncted by appelles, the officer personally cbserving appeilant driving

in the dark without headlighis and therefore had reasonabie suspicion *> make the

traffic stop.

TJUN—-29-2p0R8 1342
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{932} Based on the foregolng, | would find that the trial court did not err in

denying the Motion o Suppress in this case.

%4 e

Judge Julie A, Edwards
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STATE ©F OHIO
Plaintiff-Appeallee
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SHAWN MICHAEL SKROPITS

Deferdant-Appailant : Case No. 2007 CA 00088

For the reascns steted in our accompanying Memeorandum-Opinion, the
judgmant of the Court of Common Pleas of Stark County, Ohio, is reversed ana
remanded for further proceedings consistent with this apinion.
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